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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 17-Q 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE 

SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b)THEREUNDER 
 

 

 

 

 

1. For the quarterly period ended ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..….. 

 

2. SEC Identification Number  ……………………………    3.  BIR Tax Identification No. …………………….…………....….. 
 

 

4. …………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….………………………………………………………………………....….. 

 Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter 

 

5. ……………………………………………………………………….………………………………………………………..……………………………………………………………………...… 

 Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization 

 

6.  Industry Classification Code:                  (SEC Use Only) 
 .......................................................................................................................………………………………………………………………………….……...……. 

    

 

7.   ……………………………………………………………………………………………………..………….……..……………………………………………………………………………....... 

 Address of principal office                       Postal Code      
 

 

8.       .................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 

 Registrant's telephone number, including area code   
 

9. .................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 

 Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report 

 

10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA 
 

                                        NUMBER OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

                  TITLE OF CLASS                                OUTSTANDING AND AMOUNT OF  

DEBT OUTSTANDING  

   

           Class “A” Common               292,610,118 Shares 
….…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….………………………………………………………………………………………….... 

  

        Class “B” Common               189,217,535  Shares 
……………………………………………………………………….……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

  

 

F & J Prince Holdings CorporationF & J Prince Holdings CorporationF & J Prince Holdings CorporationF & J Prince Holdings Corporation    

Philippines 

  5th Floor, Citibank Center Building 

8741 Paseo de Roxas, Makati City 1226 

(632) 892-7133 

30 September 2011 

 

43370 000-829-097 
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11. Are any or all of the securities listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange? 

 

 Yes   [  � ]    No   [    ] 

 

 If yes, state the name of such Stock Exchange and class/es of securities listed therein: 

 

      Philippine Stock Exchange     Common Shares, Class “A” and “B” 
 ………………………………………………………………….……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..… 

 

 

12. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:  

 

(a)  has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Securities Regulation 

Code (SRC) and RSA Rule 17(2)-(b) thereunder and Sections 26 and 141 of the 

Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding 12 months (or for such 

shorter period the registrant was required to file such reports) 

 

  Yes  [  � ]     No   [    ] 

 

(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 

  

  Yes   [  � ]    No   [    ] 
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PART I 
 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 

 

Item I.    Financial Statements. 

 

The following financial statements, presented in a comparative format, are submitted: 

 

(1) Unaudited Interim Balance Sheet as of  30 September 2011 and Audited Balance Sheet 

as of 31 December 2010 as Annex “A”; 

 

(2) Unaudited Interim Statement of Income and Retained Earnings for the nine (9) month 

period ending 30 September 2011 and the 9 month period ending 30 September 2010 

as Annex “B”; 

 

(3) Unaudited Statement of Income and Retained Earnings for the three month period 

ending 30 September 2011 and three months period ending 30 September 2010 shown 

as Annex “C”; 

 

(4) Unaudited Interim Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the 9 month period 

ending 30 September 2011 and 30 September 2010 and Audited Statement of Changes 

in Stockholders’ Equity for the year ending 31 December 2010 as Annex “D”; 

 

(5) Unaudited Interim Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the 9 month period ending 30 

September 2011 and the 9 month period ending 30 September 2010 as Annex “E”;  

 

(6) Interim Cash Flow for the quarterly periods ending 30 September 2011 and 30 

September 2010, as Annex “F”; and 

 

(7) Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 30 September 2011 and 31 December 2010 with 

vertical and horizontal percentage analysis as Annex “G”. 
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ITEM 2.     MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION 

 

 

(1) Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

 

The Registrant’s consolidated total revenue increased by 25% in 2010 to P93.6 

million from P74.9 million in 2009.  Most of the increase was accounted for by the 

69% increase in net earnings of associates to P56.3 million in 2010 from P33.3 million 

in 2009 as earnings at Pointwest Technologies Corporation set a new record at more 

than double the earnings in 2009.  Interest income also increased by almost 40% to 

P28.4 million in 2010 from P20.3 million in 2009 as the Registrant’s subsidiaries 

shifted investment into higher yielding bond investments from bank deposits as the 

financial crisis of 2008-2009 abated.  Fair value gains on financial assets at FVPL were 

at P2.8 million in 2010 from P17.2 million in 2009 as the sharp gains on financial 

investments realized in the recovery of 2009 were not matched in 2010 which saw 

more stable markets.  Rental income was slightly higher in 2010 at P2.6 million from 

P2.5 million in 2009.  Gain on disposal of AFS and HTM investments of P1.2 million as 

well as amortization of discount of AFS and HTM investments of P1.0 million 

contributed to the increase in consolidated total revenue.  Dividend income in 2010 

was lower at P0.8 million in 2010 compared to P1.0 million in 2009.  Other income 

was also slightly lower at P0.5 million in 2010 from P0.6 million in 2009. 

 

Total Consolidated expenses of the Registrant fell to P37.0 million in 2010 from P39.8 

million in 2009 due mainly to a reduction in amortization of unrealized losses on 

changes in Fair Value of AFS Investment previously classified as HTM Investments 

which dropped to P0.7 million in 2010 from P9.7 million in 2009.  This more than 

offset the increase in net foreign exchange loss to P16.0 million in 2010 from P9.9 

million in 2009 as the Peso strengthened further in 2010.  This adversely affected the 

foreign exchange denominated bonds held by the Registrant and its subsidiaries. 

 

As a result of the above changes in revenue and expenses, consolidated income 

before tax of the Registrant increased by 61% to P56.6 million in 2010 from P35.1 

million in 2009.   After provision for taxes, net income after tax in 2010 increased by 

58% to P55.3 million from P35.1 million in 2009.  Excluding the share of minority 

shareholders in the Registrant’s subsidiary would result in net income attributable to 

stockholders of the Registrant of P55.0 million in 2010 from P35.6 million in 2009.  

 

The Registrant’s financial position remains strong and its ability to undertake its 

planned projects is not affected.  As of December 31, 2010, the Registrant’s 

consolidated cash and cash equivalents totalled P32.7 million compared to P36.5 

million at the end of 2009. The Registrant and its subsidiary has decided to reinvest 

resources in bonds and stocks as the global financial crisis abated.  The Registrant 

and its subsidiary are essentially debt free with total consolidated liabilities of P27.9 
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million including deferred income tax liabilities of P20.6 million and including 

retirement benefit obligations of P2.8 million against total equity of P996.7 million at 

year-end 2010. 

 

The Registrant and its subsidiary and affiliates are now substantially debt free except 

for MUDC which has loans and advances from its principal shareholders and PTC and 

BPOI which from time to time have availed of short term loans for normal working 

capital requirements.  The Registrant and its subsidiaries have more than enough 

cash resources to meet any expected requirements in the next twelve months. 

Consolidated cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2010 totalled P32.7 million 

compared to P36.5 million at the end of 2009 while total current assets totalled 

P135.5 million at year-end 2010 compared to P151.9 million at year-end 2009.  The 

Registrant had been increasing its liquidity in 2008 in the face of the worldwide 

financial crisis but with the global financial crisis abating, the Registrant has in 2009 

and 2010 started reinvesting its liquid resources thus resulting in higher interest 

income.    

 

On June 17, 2011 the Registrant’s subsidiary, Magellan Capital Holdings Corporation, 

signed an agreement with J.G. Summit Holdings, Inc. to sell all its shares in Batangas 

Agro-Industrial Development Corporation (BAID) for the sum of One Billion Forty 

Million One Hundred Seventeen Thousand Six Hundred Thirty Four and 50/100 Pesos 

(P 1,040,117,634.50) payable in cash.  BAID owns directly or through its subsidiaries 

50 hectares of land fronting Batangas Bay in Pinamucan, Batangas and has a 10 

hectare foreshore lease on the bay in front of its landholdings.  This land was the 

intended site for the aborted power project of Magellan Utilities Development 

Corporation.  This transaction was subsequently closed on July 18, 2011 with the full 

amount of the purchase price fully paid.  As a result, the liquidity of the Registrant’s 

subsidiary has increased substantially.  Other than the transaction with J.G. Summit 

Holdings, Inc. described above and other than the normal fluctuation of the Peso 

exchange rate as well as the effect of the normal market fluctuations on the value of 

stock and bond holdings owned by the Registrant and its subsidiary, the Registrant is 

not aware of any trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will 

result in or that are reasonably likely to result in its liquidity increasing or decreasing 

in any material way.   Likewise, the Registrant does not know of any trends, events or 

uncertainties that have or that are reasonably expected to have a material favorable 

or unfavorable impact on the revenues or income from continuing operations.   

 

(a) Operating Results and Financial Condition for the Third Quarter of 2011 

 

(i) Other than the transaction with J.G. Summit Holdings, Inc. described above, there 

are no known trends, demands, events or uncertainties that would have a 

material effect on the Issuer’s liquidity.   
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(ii)  There are no known or anticipated events that would trigger direct or contingent 

financial obligation that is material to the Company including any default or 

acceleration of any obligation. 

 

(iii)  There are no material off-balance sheet transaction, arrangements, obligations 

(including contingent obligations) and other relationship of the Company with 

unconsolidated entities or other persons created during third quarter of 2011 or 

in prior periods. 

 

(iv) There are no material commitments for capital expenditures, by the Company or 

its majority owned subsidiary. 

 

(v) The transaction with J.G. Summit Holdings, Inc. has resulted in a material 

favorable impact on net revenues and net income in the third quarter of 2011.  

Other than that, there are no trends, events, or uncertainties that have had or 

that are reasonably expected to have a material favorable impact on 

net/revenues/income from continuing operations except for possible unrealized 

or realized foreign exchange gains from the dollar denominated investments of 

the Company and its majority owned subsidiary.  These are generally recognized 

in the year-end Audited Financial Statements except for realized foreign 

exchange gain which are reported in the period realized. 

 

(vi) The Company did not realize any non-operating income in the third quarter of 

2010 other than gain on disposal of AFS/HTM Investments or unrealized gains on 

trading securities.   In the third quarter of 2011, the Company realized a gain of 

P672 million from the sale of its shares in Batangas Agro Industrial Development 

Corporation (BAID) a wholly owned subsidiary of Magellan Capital Holdings 

Corporation (MCHC), to J.G. Summit  Holdings, Inc. 
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The following is a detailed discussion of the Registrant’s operations and financial condition 

during the third quarter of 2011 and third quarter of 2010. 

 

Operating Results 

 

Breakdown of Revenue for the Three Month Periods Ending September 30, 2011 and 

September 30, 2010 with Vertical and Horizontal Percentage Analysis is shown below: 

 
 

(P000) 

 

Third 

Quarter 

Sept. 30 

2011 

Vertical 

Percentage 

Analysis 

Sept. 30 

2011 

 

Third 

Quarter 

Sept. 30 

2010 

Vertical 

Percentage 

Analysis 

Sept. 30 

2010 

Increase 

(Decrease) 

Amount 

Sept. 30 

2011 

Increase 

(Decrease) 

Percentage 

Sept. 30 

2011 

INTEREST INCOME 

From Banks 

 

 P   7,949 

 

1.14% 

 

P        364 

 

2.82% 

 

7,585 2,080% 

From Securities 6,345 0.91% 6,993 54.28% (648) (9.3%) 

TOTAL P 14,294 2.05% P    7,357 57.05% 6,935 94.3% 

RENT INCOME 836 0.12% 600 4.65% 236 39.3% 

DIVIDEND INCOME 363 0.05% 245 1.91% 118 48.2% 

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF 

FIXED ASSETS 

 

- 

 

- 

 

246 

 

1.91% 

 

(246) 

 

- 

UNREALIZED GAIN ON 

TRADING SECURITIES 

 

1,499 

 

0.22% 

 

3,606 

 

27.97% 

 

(2,107) 

 

(58.4%) 

GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF 

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY 

 

672,043 

 

96.48% 

 

- 

 

- 

 

672,043 

 

- 

GAIN ON DISPOSAL 

OF AFS/HTM INVESTMENT 

 

390 

 

0.05% 

 

840 

 

6.51% 

 

(450) 

 

(53.6%) 

OTHER INCOME 7,176 1.03% - - - - 

TOTAL P  696,601 100% P 12,894 100% 683,707 5300% 

 

Revenues.  Consolidated Revenues of the Registrant during the three month period ending 

September 2011 totaled P696.6 million compared to P12.9 million during the same period in 

2010 or an increase of over 5,300%.  The sharp jump in revenue was due to the gain of 

P672.0 million on the sale of all the shares of Batangas Agro Industrial Development 

Corporation (BAID), a wholly owned subsidiary of Magellan Capital Holdings Corporation 

(MCHC) to J.G. Summit Holdings, Inc.  MCHC is 94.34% owned by the Registrant.  In addition, 

interest income also increased from P7.4 million the third quarter of 2010 to P14.3 million in 

the third quarter of 2011 due to interest derived from the proceeds of the sale of BAID 

shares which were fully paid in July 2011.  In addition, other income of P7.2 million was 

reported in the third quarter of 2011 compared to nil in the third quarter of 2010 due mainly 

to recovery of advances made to BAID by MCHC which had been fully provided for in the 

prior financial statements.   Rental income also increased from P0.6 million in the third 

quarter of 2010 to P0.84 million in the third quarter of 2011 due to the renting out of one of 

the office units available for lease owned by MCHC.  The movement of other components of 

revenue were minor compared the items reported above.  
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Expenses.  Consolidated general and administrative expenses of the Registrant totalled  

P101.6 million in the third quarter of 2011 compared to P7.4 million in the same period in 

2010.  The big jump in expenses was due to the payment of capital gains taxes and 

documentary stamp taxes on the sale of the BAID shares to J.G. Summit Holdings, Inc. which 

totalled P92.6 million.  Unrealized loss on financial assets was P3.7 million in the third 

quarter of 2011 compared to nil in the third quarter of 2011 due to the fluctuations in the 

prices of listed securities which took a beating in the third quarter of 2011 due to market  

fears arising from the Eurozone debt crisis.  Movement of other items in the consolidated 

general and administrative expenses were relatively minor. 

 

Net Income. Due to the movements in the revenues and expenses discussed above, 

consolidated net income in the third quarter of 2011 totaled P595.0 million compared to 

P5.5 million in the third quarter of 2010.  After deducting the share of minority shareholders 

in the Registrant’s majority-owned subsidiary Magellan Capital Holdings Corporation, the 

consolidated net income attributable to the shareholders of the Registrant was P565.2 

million in the third quarter of 2011 compared to P9.3 million in the third quarter of 2010 due 

to the gain on sale of the BAID shares. 

 

 

BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS 

 

Annex “A” shows the Consolidated Balance Sheet of the company while Annex “G” shows 

the Vertical and Horizontal Percentage Analysis of Balance Sheet Accounts for September 30, 

2011 compared to December 31, 2010.  The various balance sheet accounts are discussed 

below: 

 

ASSETS 

 

Current Assets.   Consolidated current assets as of September 30, 2011 totaled P1,089.9 

million compared to P135.0 million as of December 31, 2010.  Most of the increase was due 

to the sharp increase in Short-Term Investment which rose sharply from P6.8 million as of 

December 31, 2010 to P984.0 million as of September 30, 2011.  This was due to the 

investment in BSP securities of proceeds from the sale of the BAID shares by MCHC which 

was fully paid for in July 2011.  Net receivables also dropped to P8.9 million at end of 

September, 2011 from P46.1 million at end of 2010 as dividends declared by the Registrant’s 

outsourcing affiliates were collected in 2011.  Financial assets at fair value rose from P44.6 

million at year-end 2010 to P53.8 million at the end of September 2011.   

   

Receivables from Related Parties.   This account increased to P3.7 million as of September 

30, 2011 from P2.8 million at year-end 2010, due to advances to Magellan Utilities 

Development Corporation (MUDC) by Magellan Capital Holdings Corporation (MCHC) to fund 

pre-operating expenses.   
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Investments in Associates.  This account which consists of the Registrant’s investment in 

Pointwest Technologies Corporation and BPO International, Inc. remained unchanged from 

year-end 2010 to September 30, 2011 at P137.4 million.   The Registrant’s share in earnings 

of these affiliates are taken up at year-end. 

  

Available for Sale Investments.   This account which consists mostly of bond investments 

increased slightly to P336.7 million at September 30, 2011 from P335.6 million at year-end 

2010.  

 

Held to Maturity Investments.  This account was nil at year-end 2010 and at the end of 

September 2011 due to the fact that all bond investments by the Registrant and its 

subsidiary are now classified as available for sale investment. 

  

Property and Equipment.   This account totaled P31.3 million as of September 30, 2011 

compared to P32.3 million as of December 31, 2010 due to provision for depreciation during 

the 9 month period. 

 

Investment in Property.   This account decreased to P46.3 million at the end of September 

2011 from P414.4 million at the end of December 31, 2010 due to the sale of the BAID 

shares to J.G. Summit Holdings, Inc.  

 

Other Non-Current Assets.   This account totalled P13.5 million as of September 30, 2011 

the same level as at year end 2010. 

 

Total Assets.   As a result of the foregoing, total assets increased substantially to P1,652.5 

million as of September 30, 2011 from P1,072.6 million as of December 31, 2010. 

 

 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

 

Current Liabilities.   Current liabilities increased to P4.5 million as of September 30, 2011 

from P2.9 million as of December 31, 2010 due mainly to increase in withholding taxes 

payable. 

 

Non-Current Liabilities.  Non-current liabilities remained stable at P24.0 million at 

September 30, 2011, the same level as at year-end 2010.  Retirement benefit obligation was 

unchanged at P3.4 million as of September 30, 2011 and at year-end 2010.  The non-current 

liabilities as of September 30, 2011 consisted mostly of deferred income tax liabilities of 

P20.6 million, the same level as at year-end 2010. 

 

Stockholder’s Equity.  Total stockholders’ equity increased to P1,623.9 million at the end of 

September 2011 from P1,044.7 million at the end of 2010 due mainly to the net income of 

P606.3 million generated in the first 9 months of 2011.  “Other reserves” represent the net 

provision made in 2009 for the effect of mark to market valuation on the Held to Maturity 



10 

 

Investments held by the Registrant and its subsidiary.  As the investments approach maturity, 

this reserve is reduced correspondingly.  Minority interest which represents the share of 

minority shareholders of MCHC in the equity of MCHC totalled P78.3 million at the end of 

September 2011 compared to P48.0 million at the end of 2010 due to their share in net 

income realized by MCHC in the first 9 months of 2011.  Total equity attributable to 

stockholders of the Registrant was P1,545.6 million as of September 30, 2011 compared to 

P996.8 million at the end of December 2010 due to the substantial income generated from 

the sale of the BAID shares. 

  

Top Performance Indicators 

  

The top five (5) performance indicators for the Registrant are as follows: 

 

1) Change in revenue 

2) Change in net income 

3) Earnings per share 

4) Current ratio 

5) Book value per share  

 

Change in Revenues.   Consolidated revenues in the third quarter of 2010 and 2009 are 

presented below in summary form: 

 

(P 000) 3
rd

 Quarter 2011 Percentage (%) 3
rd

 Quarter 2010 Percentage (%) 

Interest Income     P              14,294 2.1% P            7,357 57.1% 

Unrealized Gain on 

   Trading Securities 

 

1,499 

 

0.2% 

 

3,606 

 

28.0% 

Rental Income 836 0.1% 600 4.7% 

Gains on Disposal of 

   Investments 

 

672,043 

 

96.4% 

 

- 

 

- 

Gains on Disposal of 

   AFS/HTM Investments 

 

390 

 

0.1% 

 

840 

 

6.5% 

Gains on Disposal of 

   Fixed Assets 

 

- 

 

- 

 

246 

 

1.9% 

Dividend Income  362 0.1% 245 1.9% 

Other Income 7,177 1.0% - - 

Total Income P           696,601 100% P            12,894 100% 

 

Total revenue increased by 5300% to P696.6 million in the third quarter of 2011 from P12.9 

million in the third quarter of 2010.  This was due mainly to the gain on sale of the BAID 

shares by MCHC.  Interest income also rose sharply due to interest income derived from the 

proceeds of the sale.   
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Change in Net Income.   The income statement in the third quarter of 2011 and 2010 are 

shown in Annex “C” and summarized below:  

 
(P 000) 3

rd
 Quarter-2011 Percentage (%) 3

rd
 Quarter-2010 Percentage (%) 

Revenues P           696,601 100% P           12,894 100% 

Expenses 101,638 14.6% 7,422 57.6% 

Net Income 594,963 85.4% 5,472 42.4% 

Attributable to: 

  -  Minority Interest 

  -  Stockholders of  

        Company 

 

29,748 

 

P           565,215 

 

4.3% 

 

81.1% 

 

274 

 

P           5,198 

 

2.1% 

 

40.3% 

 

The Registrant realized a consolidated net income of P595 million in the third quarter of 

2011 versus P5.5 million in the third quarter of 2010. After deducting the share of minority 

shareholders of MCHC, the company realized a net income of P565.2 million attributable to 

stockholders of the company in the third quarter of 2011 compared to a net income of P5.2 

million attributable to stockholders of the company in the third quarter of 2010. 

 

Earnings per Share.   The net income per share attributable to shareholders of the Company 

during the third quarter of 2011 was P1.465 per share compared to earnings per share of 

P0.0135 in the third quarter of 2010 after deducting the shares held by subsidiaries of the 

Registrant.    

 

Current Ratio.   Current ratio as of September 30, 2011 was 236 X compared to 34.7 X as of 

December 31, 2010.   The increase was due to the sharp increase in short term investments 

which represent the proceeds of the sale of the BAID shares. 

  

Book Value Per Share.   Book value per share as of September 30, 2011 was P4.01 per share 

compared to P2.58 per share at year end 2010 after deducting the shares held by 

subsidiaries of the Registrant which in the consolidated financial accounts are classified as 

treasury shares.  The sharp increase was due to the gain from the sale of the BAID shares. 
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PART II 
 

OTHER INFORMATION 
 

 

 

As of 30 September 2011, the following resolutions of the Board of Directors were reported 

under SEC Form 17-C: 

 

1. The Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of the Registrant was held on 28 July 2011.  

At the said meeting, the stockholders comprising more than 2/3 of the Corporation’s 

outstanding capital stock approved the following: 

 

a) the Minutes of the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders held on  

 28 July 2010; 

 

b) ratification of the corporation actions approved and adopted by the  

 Board of Directors during the year 2010; 

 

c) the audited Financial Statements as of 31 December 2010;  

 

d) re-appointment of Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. as external auditor  

 of the corporation. 

 

2. Immediately after the adjournment of the Stockholders’ Meeting, the Organizational 

Meeting of the Board of Directors was held on the same day.  The election of the 

officers of the corporation, as well as members of various board committees was duly 

disclosed to the SEC and PSE, thru ODiSy online after the meeting and with 

confirmation copies filed on 29 July 2011, under SEC Form 17-C.  The notices and other 

requirements for said meeting were complied with under the relevant SRC Rule. 
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F & J PRINCE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

 

1. Corporate Information 

F & J Prince Holdings Corporation (the Company) was registered with the Philippines Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 18, 1971.  Its primary purpose is to purchase, subscribe for 

or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange, or 

otherwise dispose of real and personal property of every kind and description, including, but not 

limited to, land, building, condominium units, shares of stock, bonds, debentures, notes, evidence of 

indebtedness and other securities, contracts or obligations of any corporation and associations, 

domestic or foreign.  The principal activities of its subsidiary is described in Note 2. 

The registered office address of the Company is 5th Floor, Citibank Center Building, 8741 Paseo de 

Roxas corner Villar Street, Salcedo Village, Makati City. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary (collectively referred to as 

the Group) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the period ended 

December 31, 2010 were authorized for release by the President of the Company on  

April 8, 2011, pursuant to a resolution by the Board of Directors (BOD) dated April 4, 2011. 

 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Basis of Preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 

financial assets at FVPL and AFS investments that have been measured at their fair values (see Notes 

5 and 9) and investment properties which have been carried at their revalued amounts considered to 

be their “deemed cost” (see Note 11).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in 

Philippine peso, which is the Group’s functional currency, except when otherwise stated. 

 

Statement of Compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial 

Reporting Standards (PFRS) as adopted by the Philippine SEC.  PFRS includes statements named 

PFRS and Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretations issued by the 

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for 

the adoption of the following amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations which became effective 

on January 1, 2010.  Except as otherwise indicated, adoption of these changes in PFRS did not have 

any significant effect to the Group: 

 

PFRS 2, Share-based Payment (Amendment) - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment 

Transactions 

The amendment to PFRS 2 clarified the scope and the accounting for group cash-settled share-based 

payment transactions.  The Group adopted this amendment as of January 1, 2010. 
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PFRS 3 (Revised), Business Combinations, and PAS 27 (Amended), Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements 

PFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the accounting for business combinations 

occurring after becoming effective.  Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling interest, the 

accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of a contingent 

consideration and business combinations achieved in stages.  These changes will impact the amount 

of goodwill recognized, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs and future 

reported results. 

 

PAS 27 (Amended) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of 

control) is accounted for as a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners.  Therefore, such 

transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss.  Furthermore, 

the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss 

of control of a subsidiary.  The changes by PFRS 3 (Revised) and PAS 27 (Amended) affect 

acquisitions or loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests after 

January 1, 2010. 

 

PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amendment) - Eligible Hedged Items 

The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or 

cash flow variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item.  This also covers the designation of 

inflation as a hedged risk or portion in particular situations. 

 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 17, Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners 

This interpretation provides guidance on accounting for arrangements whereby an entity distributes 

non-cash assets to shareholders either as a distribution of reserves or as dividends. 

 

Improvements to PFRS 

Improvements to PFRS, an omnibus of amendments to standards, deal primarily with a view to 

removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.  There are separate transitional provisions for each 

standard.  The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies but 

did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 

 

Improvements to PFRS 2008 

• PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, clarifies that when a 

subsidiary is classified as held for sale, all its assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale, 

even when the entity remains a non-controlling interest after the sale transaction.  The 

amendment is applied prospectively and has no impact on the financial position or the financial 

performance of the Group. 

 

Improvements to PFRS 2009 

• PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, clarifies that the 

disclosures required in respect of non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 

or discontinued operations are only those set out in PFRS 5.  The disclosure requirements of other 

PFRS only apply if specifically required for such non-current assets or discontinued operations.  

 

• PFRS 8, Operating Segments, clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported 

when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used by the chief operating 

decision maker. 
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• PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, states that only expenditure that results in recognizing an asset 

can be classified as a cash flow from investing activities.  

 

• PAS 36, Impairment of Assets, amendment clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating 

goodwill, acquired in a business combination, is the operating segment as defined in PFRS 8 

before aggregation for reporting purposes.  

 

Other amendments resulting from the 2009 Improvements to PFRS to the following standards did not 

have any impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group. 

• PFRS 2, Share-based Payment 

• PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

• PAS 17, Leases 

• PAS 38, Intangible Assets 

• PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 16, Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 

 

New Accounting Standards, Interpretations and Amendments to Existing Standards  

  Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2010 

The Group will adopt the standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become 

effective.  Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these new and 

amended PFRS and Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its consolidated financial 

statements.  The relevant disclosures will be included in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements when these become effective. 

 

Effective in 2011 

 

PAS 24 (Amended), Related Party Disclosures 

The amended standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011.  It 

clarified the definition of a related party to simplify the identification of such relationships and to 

eliminate inconsistencies in its application.  The revised standard introduces a partial exemption of 

disclosure requirements for government-related entities.  Early adoption is permitted for either the 

partial exemption for government-related entities or for the entire standard. 

 

PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment) - Classification of Rights Issues 

The amendment to PAS 32 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after February 1, 2010 and 

amended the definition of a financial liability in order to classify rights issues (and certain options or 

warrants) as equity instruments in cases where such rights are given pro rata to all of the existing 

owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments, or to acquire a fixed 

number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency.  

 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14 (Amendment), Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 

The amendment to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 14 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2011, with retrospective application.  The amendment provides guidance on assessing 

the recoverable amount of a net pension asset.  The amendment permits an entity to treat the 

prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as an asset.  

 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 
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Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 19 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2010.  

The interpretation clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial 

liability qualify as consideration paid.  The equity instruments issued are measured at their fair value.  

In case that this cannot be reliably measured, the instruments are measured at the fair value of the 

liability extinguished.  Any gain or loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.  

 

Improvements to PFRS 2010 

Improvements to IFRS is an omnibus of amendments to PFRS.  The amendments have not been 

adopted as they become effective for annual periods on or after either July 1, 2010 or January 1, 2011.  

The amendments listed below, are considered to have a reasonable possible impact on the Company: 

 

• PFRS 3, Business Combinations 

• PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

• PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 

• PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 

• Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes 

 

Effective in 2012 

 

PAS 12, Income Taxes (Amendment) Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 

The amendment to PAS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012.  It 

provides a practical solution to the problem of assessing whether recovery of an asset will be through 

use or sale.  It introduces a presumption that recovery of the carrying amount of an asset will 

normally be through sale. 

 

PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendments) Disclosures Transfers of Financial   

 Assets 

The amendments to PFRS 7 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2011.  The 

amendments will allow users of financial statements to improve their understanding of transfer 

transactions of financial assets (for example, securitizations), including understanding the possible 

effects of any risks that may remain with the entity that transferred the assets.  The amendments also 

require additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of transfer transactions are undertaken 

around the end of a reporting period. 

 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreement for Construction of Real Estate 

This interpretation, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012, covers 

accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real 

estate directly or through subcontractors.  The interpretation requires that revenue on construction of 

real estate be recognized only upon completion, except when such contract qualifies as construction 

contract to be accounted for under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of services 

in which case revenue is recognized based on stage of completion.  Contracts involving provision of 

services with the construction materials and where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred 

to the buyer on a continuous basis will also be accounted for based on stage of completion. 

 

Effective in 2013 

 

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 

PFRS 9, as issued in 2010, reflects the first phase of the work on the replacement of PAS 39 and 

applies to classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in 

PAS 39.  The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  In 
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subsequent phases, hedge accounting and derecognition will be addressed.  The completion of this 

project is expected in early 2011.  The adoption of the first phase of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the 

classification and measurement of the Company’s financial assets.  The Company will quantify the 

effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture. 

 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group, which includes 

Magellan Capital Holdings Corporation (MCHC) and its subsidiaries (MCHC Group) as at December 

31 of each year.  The consolidated financial statements of the MCHC Group are prepared for the 

same reporting year as the Group, using uniform accounting policies. 

 

As of December 31, 2010, the Group has 94.34% interest in the unquoted equity stocks of MCHC, a 

holding company involved in investing real and personal properties of every kind, including, but not 

limited to, land, buildings, condominium units, shares of stocks, bonds, and other securities of any 

corporation or association, domestic or foreign.  The cost of investment in MCHC amounted to P=

537,514,860 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 

MCHC has investments in the following subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

 

 

Country of 

Incorporation 

Percentage of 

Ownership 

Cost of 

Investment 

Held by MCHC    

 Pinamucan Industrial Estates, Inc. 

 (PIEI) Philippines 100 P=181,744,760 

 Batangas-Agro Industrial     

  Development Corporation 

 (BAID)* Philippines 100 25,000,000 

 Malabrigo Corporation* Philippines 100 662,500 

 Magellan Capital Realty Development 

 Corporation* Philippines 100 100,000 

 Magellan Capital Trading 

 Corporation* Philippines 100 62,500 

Held by BAID    

 Fruits of the East, Inc.* Philippines 100 – 

 Samar Commodities Trading and     

  Industrial Corporation* Philippines 100 – 

 Tropical Aqua Resources, Inc.* Philippines 100 – 

 United Philippine Oil Trading,     

  Incorporated* Philippines 100 – 

 King Leader Philippines, Inc.* Philippines 100 – 

 The Hometel Integrated Management    

  Corporation* Philippines 100 – 

   207,569,760 

Less allowance for impairment losses   162,500 

   P=207,407,260 

* still in the preoperating stage 

 

Basis of consolidation from January 1, 2010 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  All  
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intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-

group transactions that are recognized in assets, are eliminated in full.  The results of subsidiaries 

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of income from the 

date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit 

balance.  

 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an 

equity transaction.  If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

 

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 

• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 

• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity 

• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received 

• Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained 

• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 

• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive 

income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 

 

Basis of consolidation prior to January 1, 2010 

Whenever applicable, the above requirements were applied on a prospective basis.  The following 

differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of 

consolidation: 

 

• Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance was 

reduced to nil.  Any further excess losses were attributed to the parent, unless the  

non-controlling interest had a binding obligation to cover these.  Losses prior to  

January 1, 2010 were not reallocated between non-controlling interest and the parent 

shareholders. 

• Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate share of 

net asset value at the date control was lost.  The carrying value of such investment at January 1, 

2010 has not been restated. 

 

Transactions with non-controlling interests 

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of net income or loss and net assets in the subsidiaries 

not held by the Group and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of income and 

within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from the equity attributable to equity 

holders of the parent.  Transactions with non-controlling interests are accounted for as equity 

transactions.  On acquisitions of non-controlling interests, the difference between the consideration 

and the book value of the share of the net assets acquired is reflected as being a transaction between 

owners and recognized directly in equity.  Gain or loss on disposals of non-controlling interest is also 

recognized directly in equity. 

 

Investments in Associates 

The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting.  An 

associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary 

nor a joint venture. 

 

Under the equity method, investment in an associate is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at 

cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate.  Goodwill 
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relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortized. The 

consolidated statement of income reflects the share in the results of operations of the associates. After 

application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any 

additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in its associates.  Where there 

has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognizes its share of 

any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  

Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associates are eliminated to 

the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. 

 

Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-

term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are not 

recognized, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on 

behalf of the associate. 

 

The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and the associates’ accounting 

policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

 

The associate is accounted for under equity method from the date the Group obtains significant 

influence. 

 

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for at cost 

less impairment losses. 

 

The following are the Group’s associates: 

 

 

Country of 

Incorporation 

Percentage of 

Ownership 

Cost of 

Investment 

Held by the Company    

 Business Process Outsourcing 

 International, Inc. (BPO)    

  Unquoted equity stocks Philippines 35 P=33,205,006 

  Advances   16,100,000 

 Pointwest Technologies Corporation 

 (PTC) Philippines 30 40,725,000 

   90,030,006 

    

Held by MCHC    

 Magellan Utilities Development 

 Corporation (MUDC) Philippines 43 94,830,129 

 Less allowance for impairment losses   94,830,129 

   – 

   P=90,030,006 

 

Business Combinations and Goodwill 

Business combinations from January 1, 2010 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The cost of an acquisition is 

measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and 

the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business combination, the 

acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
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proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition costs incurred are expensed 

and included in administrative expenses. 

 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 

appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 

circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.  This includes the separation of 

embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 

previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date 

through profit or loss. 

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the 

acquisition date.  Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is 

deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognized in accordance with PAS 39 either in profit or 

loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.  If the contingent consideration is classified as 

equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. 

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 

transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed.  If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of 

the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss. 

 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For 

the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 

acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 

from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to 

those units. 

 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount 

of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of 

in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the 

portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

 

Business combinations prior to January 1, 2010 

In comparison to the abovementioned requirements, the following differences applied: 

 

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method.  Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs.  The non-controlling interest 

(formerly known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 

identifiable net assets. 

 

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Any additional 

acquired share of interest did not affect previously recognized goodwill. 

 

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the 

acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in 

the terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would have been 

required under the contract.  
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Contingent consideration was recognized if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the 

economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable.  Subsequent 

adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognized as part of goodwill. 

 

Impairment of goodwill 

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently, if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 

acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of  

cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective 

of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. 

 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit or group of 

cash-generating units, to which the goodwill relates.  Where the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit or group of cash-generating units is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss 

is recognized. 

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash includes cash on hand and with banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three 

months or less from dates of acquisition and that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

Financial Instruments 

The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet when 

it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  In the case of a regular way 

purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and disposals or retirements, as applicable, is done 

using settlement date accounting. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized at fair value at inception.  Transaction costs 

are included in the initial measurement of all financial assets and liabilities, except for financial 

instruments measured at FVPL. 

 

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangement.  Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument or a 

component that is a financial liability, are reported as expense or income.  Distributions to holders of 

financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity, net of any related income tax 

benefits. 

 

Financial assets 

Financial assets, within the scope of PAS 39, are classified into the following categories: financial 

asset at FVPL, loans and receivables, HTM investments, and AFS investments.  The classification 

depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an 

active market.  Management determines the classification at initial recognition and, where allowed 

and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting date. 

 

Financial assets are classified as current assets when it is expected to be realized within 12 months 

after the reporting date or within the normal operating cycle, whichever is longer. 
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Financial assets at FVPL 

Financial assets at FVPL include financial assets held for trading purposes and financial assets 

designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL. 

 

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling and 

repurchasing in the near term.  Derivatives, including embedded derivatives, are also classified as 

held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or financial guarantee 

contracts.  Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognized in the consolidated 

statement of income.  Interest earned or incurred is recorded in interest income or expense, 

respectively, while dividend income is recorded as such according to the terms of the contract, or 

when the right of payment has been established. 

 

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as at FVPL if the following criteria are met: 

(a) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise 

arise from measuring the assets or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; or (b) the 

assets are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and their performance evaluated on a 

fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (c) the financial asset 

contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded. 

 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group’s investments in trading securities are classified under 

financial assets at FVPL. 

 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market.  They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or 

short-term resale and are not classified or designated as AFS investment or financial assets at FVPL.  

After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the 

effective interest rate method, less any allowance for impairment.  Amortized cost is 

calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are integral 

part of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of 

income when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 

amortization process. 

 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, 

receivables, fixed income deposits and receivables from related parties are classified as loans and 

receivables. 

 

HTM investments 

HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financial assets which carry fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities and which the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to 

maturity.  Where the Group sells other than an insignificant amount of HTM investments, the entire 

category would be tainted and reclassified as AFS investments and the Group will be precluded from 

using the HTM investments account for the current period and for the next two succeeding periods 

from tainting date. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 

acquisition and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate. Gains and losses are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the investments are derecognized or 

impaired, as well as through the amortization process. 

 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group’s HTM investments include investment in debt 

securities. 
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AFS investments 

AFS investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or are not 

classified in any of the three preceding categories.  They are purchased and held indefinitely, and may 

be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions. After initial 

measurement, AFS investments are measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses being 

recognized directly in equity.  When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss 

previously recorded in equity is recognized in the consolidated statement of income unquoted equity 

securities are carried at cost, net of impairment. Interest earned or paid on the investments is reported 

as interest income or expense using the effective interest rate.  Dividends earned on investments are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income as ‘Dividend’ when the right of payment has been 

established. 

 

AFS investments are classified as current of these are expected to be realized within 12 months from 

the reporting date, otherwise, these are classified as non-current assets. 

 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group’s investments in equity and debt securities are 

classified as AFS investments. 

 

Determination of fair value 

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their 

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 

positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and asking prices are not 

available, the price of the most recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair 

value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of 

the transaction. 

 

For all other financial instruments not quoted in an active market, the fair value is determined by 

using appropriate valuation techniques Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow 

methodologies, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, option 

pricing models, and other relevant valuation models. 

 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

Derivative instruments (including embedded derivatives) are initially recognized at fair value on the 

date in which a derivative transaction is entered into or bifurcated, and are subsequently re-measured 

at fair value.  Gains and losses from changes in fair value of derivatives not accounted as hedges are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

 

An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as derivative if all the 

following conditions are met: 

• the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the 

economic characteristic of the host contract; 

• a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition 

of the derivative; and 

• the hybrid or combined instrument is not recognized at FVPL. 
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The Group assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from host contracts 

when the Group first becomes party to the contract.  Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in 

the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required. 

 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group has no bifurcated embedded derivatives. 

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities. 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities when it is expected to be realized within  

12 months from the reporting date or the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer 

settlement for at least 12 months from reporting date. 

 

Financial liabilities at FVPL 

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 

designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL. 

 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 

repurchasing in the near term.  Derivatives, including embedded derivatives, are also classified as 

held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or financial guarantee 

contracts.  Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement 

of income.  Interest incurred is recorded as interest expense. 

 

Financial liabilities may be designated at initial recognition as at FVPL if the following criteria are 

met: (a) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would 

otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; 

or (b) the liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their 

performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management 

strategy; or (c) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be 

separately recorded. 

 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group has no financial liabilities at FVPL. 

 

Other financial liabilities 

Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not held for trading or not designated at 

FVPL, are classified as other financial liabilities, where the substance of the contractual arrangement 

results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, 

or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at the 

fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. The components of 

issued financial instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are accounted for 

separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after deducting from the 

instrument, as a whole, the amount separately determined as the fair value of the liability component 

on the date of issue.  After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Any effects of restatement of foreign currency-

denominated liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
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This accounting policy applies primarily to accounts payable and accrued expenses,  

payables to related parties and other obligations that meet the above definition (other than liabilities 

covered by other accounting standards, such as income tax payable). 

 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Financial asset 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 

financial assets) is derecognized when: 

 
 

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

• the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 

pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or 

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of 

the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 

the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 

the Group could be required to repay. 

 

Financial liability 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 

or has expired. 

 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 

different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 

modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 

liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated 

statement of income. 

 

Impairment of Financial Assets 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 

asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 

deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 

more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and 

that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 

group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include 

indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 

default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 

bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 

measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 

conditions that correlate with defaults. 

 

Assets carried at amortized cost  

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 

assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not 

individually significant.  If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
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individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of 

financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively 

assessed for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 

impairment loss, is or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of 

impairment. 

 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized 

cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses 

that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the 

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).  Time value is generally not considered when 

the effect of the discounting is not material.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either 

directly or through use of an allowance account.  Interest income continues to be accrued on the 

reduced carrying amount based on the original effective interest rate of the asset.  The financial 

assets, together with the associated allowance accounts, is written off when there is no realistic 

prospect of future recovery and all collateral, if any, has been realized or has been transferred to the 

Group.  The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 

recognized impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 

in the consolidated statement of income to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not 

exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

In relation to receivables, a provision for impairment losses is made when there is objective evidence 

(such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulty of the debtor) that the Group 

will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the invoice.   

 

The carrying amount of the receivables shall be reduced through the use of an allowance account.  

Impaired debts shall be derecognized when they are assessed as uncollectible. 

 

Assets carried at cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity instrument that is not 

carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is 

linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the 

amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 

financial asset. 

 

AFS investments 

For AFS investments, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence 

that the financial asset is impaired. 

 

In the case of equity investments classified as AFS, objective evidence of impairment would include a 

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost.  Where there is 

evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition 

cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized 

in the consolidated statement of income is removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated 

statement of income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the 

consolidated statement of income.  Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in 

equity. 
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In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as 

financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income is based on the reduced carrying 

amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose 

of measuring impairment loss.  Such accrual is recorded as part of “Interest income” in the 

consolidated statement of income.  If, in subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases 

and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income, the impairment loss is reversed through the 

consolidated statement of income. 

 

Day 1 Profit or Loss 

When the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable 

current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables 

include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the 

transaction price and fair value (a “Day 1” profit or loss) in the consolidated statement of income 

unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where use is made of data 

which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the inputs become observable or when the 

instrument is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of 

recognizing the “Day 1” profit or loss amount. 

 

Reclassification of Financial Instruments 

If, as a result of a change in intention or ability or in the rare circumstance that a reliable measure of 

fair value is no longer available, it becomes appropriate to carry a financial asset or financial liability 

at cost or amortized cost rather than at fair value, the fair value carrying amount of the financial asset 

or the financial liability on that date becomes its new cost or amortized cost, as applicable. 

 

In the case of a financial asset with a fixed maturity, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has 

been recognized directly in equity shall be amortized to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income over the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate method.  Any 

difference between the new amortized cost and maturity amount shall also be amortized over the 

remaining life of the financial asset using the effective interest rate method, similar to the 

amortization of a premium and a discount.  If the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any gain or 

loss that has been recognized directly in equity is recognized in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income. 

 

In the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss shall remain in 

equity until the financial asset is sold or otherwise disposed of, when it shall be recognized in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  If the financial asset is subsequently impaired, any 

previous gain or loss that has been recognized directly in equity is recognized in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Offsetting Financial Instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 

balance sheet if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master netting agreements and the related assets 

and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated balance sheet. 
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Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value.  Such cost includes the cost of 

replacing part of the property and equipment, including borrowing cost for long-term construction 

projects, when that cost is incurred and if the recognition criteria are met. 

 

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. 

 

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the property and 

equipment as follows: 

 

 Number of 

Category Years 

Condominium  25 

Condominium improvements 10 

Transportation equipment 10 

Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 

 

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 

(calculated as difference between the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the asset) is 

included in the consolidated statement of income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

 

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until these are no longer in use. When assets are 

sold or retired, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value are 

eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is included in the 

consolidated statement of income. 

 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the 

values, periods and method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic 

benefits from items of property and equipment. 

 

Investment Properties 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction cost less any impairment in 

value.  After initial recognition, items of investment property are carried at cost less any accumulated 

impairment losses.  The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment 

property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of 

day-to-day servicing of an investment property. 

 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 

investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected 

from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the year of retirement or disposal. 

 

Expenditures incurred after the investment properties have been put into operation are normally 

charged to income in the period in which the costs are incurred. 

 

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced 

by ending of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or ending of 
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construction or development.  Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, 

there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation or commencement of 

development with a view to sale.  Transfers between investment property and owner occupied 

property do not change the carrying amount of the investment property transferred and they do not 

change the cost of the property. 

 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that its nonfinancial assets 

(namely: prepayments and other current assets, property and equipment, investment properties, 

investments in associates, and other noncurrent assets) may be impaired.  When an indicator of 

impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes a 

formal estimate of the recoverable amount.  The estimated recoverable amount is the higher of an 

asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for 

an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 

those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the estimated recoverable amount is 

assessed as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.  Where the carrying amount of an 

asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its estimated recoverable amount.  In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit). 

 

An impairment loss is charged to operations in the year in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at 

a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is charged to the revaluation increment of the 

said asset. 

 

For nonfinancial assets, excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to 

whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or 

may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. 

A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 

assumptions used to determine the asset’s estimated recoverable amount since the last impairment 

loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its estimated 

recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is 

recognized in the consolidated statement of income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 

which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

 

Common Stock  

Common stock is classified as equity. 

 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity instruments are taken to the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. 

 

Treasury Shares 

The Group’s shares which are acquired and held by a subsidiary (treasury shares) are deducted from 

equity and accounted for at weighted average cost.  No gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated 

statement of income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity 

instruments.  Any difference between the carrying amount and the considerations received is 

recognized as capital reserves. 
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Dividends Payable 

Dividends payable are recorded in the financial year in which they are declared by the BOD. 

 

Retained Earnings 

The amount included in retained earnings includes income attributable to the Group’s stockholders 

and reduced by dividends.  Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when 

they are approved by the Group’s BOD.  Retained earnings may also include effect of changes in 

accounting policy as may be required by the standard’s transitional provisions. 

 

Revenue 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of 

the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and other sales taxes or duty.  The following 

specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

 

Interest 

Interest income from bank deposits and investments is recognized as the interest accrues on a time 

proportion basis on the principal outstanding balance and at the effective interest rate as applicable. 

 
Dividend 

Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

 

Rental 

Rental income from building is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

Retirement Benefits  

The Group has an unfunded, noncontributory retirement benefit plan covering substantially all its 

regular employees.  Retirement benefit costs are actuarially determined using the projected unit credit 

method.  This method reflects services rendered by employees to the date of valuation and 

incorporates assumptions concerning employees’ projected salaries.  Retirement benefit costs include 

current service cost plus amortization of past service cost, experience adjustments and changes in 

actuarial assumptions.  Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense when the net 

cumulative net actuarial gains and losses of the plan at the end of the previous reporting year 

exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan assets at 

that date.  These gains and losses are amortized over the expected average remaining working lives of 

the covered employees. 

 

The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until 

the benefits become vested.  If the benefits are already vested immediately following the introduction 

of, or changes to, the retirement benefit plan, past service cost is recognized immediately. 

 

The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and 

actuarial gains and losses not recognized reduced by past service cost not yet recognized and the fair 

value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. If such aggregate is 

negative, the asset is measured at the lower of such aggregate or the aggregate of cumulative 

unrecognized net actuarial losses and past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits 

available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 

 

If the asset is measured at the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses and past 

service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the 

plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan, net actuarial losses of the current period and 
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past service cost of the current period are recognized immediately to the extent that they exceed any 

reduction in the present value of those economic benefits.  If there is no change or increase in the 

present value of the economic benefits, the entire net actuarial losses of the current period and past 

service cost of the current period are recognized immediately.  Similarly, net actuarial gains of the 

current period after the deduction of past service cost of the current period exceeding any increase in 

the present value of the economic benefits stated above are recognized immediately if the asset is 

measured at the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses and past service cost and 

the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan are 

reductions in the future contributions to the plan.  If there is no change or decrease in the present 

value of the economic benefits, the entire net actuarial gains of the period after the deduction of past 

service cost of the current period are recognized immediately. 

 

Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 

arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent 

on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A 

reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies: 

 

a) there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the 

arrangement; 

b) a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or 

extension was initially included in the lease term; 

c) there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specific 

asset; or 

d) there is a substantial change to the asset. 

 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the 

change in circumstances gives rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the 

date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b). 

 

Group as a lessor 

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are 

classified as operating leases.  Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 

to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on a 

straight-line basis. 

 

Costs and expenses 

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or 

decrease of assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in equity, other than those 

relating to distributions to equity participants.  Expenses are generally recognized when the services 

are used or the expenses arise. 

 

Personnel costs 

Salaries and wages, other employee benefits and retirement benefits are recognized when employees 

have rendered service. 

 

Professional fees 

Professional fees are recognized when incurred based on the terms of the agreement. 
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Foreign Currency Transactions 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Group’s 

functional and presentation currency.  Each entity in the Group determines its own functional and 

presentation currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using 

that functional currency.  Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the functional currency 

and are recorded on initial recognition in that functional currency at exchange rates approximating 

those ruling at transaction dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  Nonmonetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at 

the dates of the initial transactions.  Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 

are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when the fair values were determined. 

 

Income Taxes 
Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The income tax rates and income 

tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date. 

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in 

the consolidated statement of income. 
 

Deferred income tax  

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences at 

the reporting date between the income tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 

for financial reporting purposes.  Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 

temporary differences, except: 

 

• where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or loss; and 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future. 

 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward 

benefits of unused tax credits in the form of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) and unused tax 

losses in the form of net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the 

carryforward benefits of MCIT and NOLCO can be utilized, except: 

 

• where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income or 

loss; and 

 

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the 

extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future 

and taxable income will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. 
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The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or 

part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are 

reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that 

future taxable income will allow the deferred income tax asset to be recovered. 

 

 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the income tax rates that are expected to 

apply to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on income tax rates and 

income tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in 

the consolidated statement of income. 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 

exists to offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income 

taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 

contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 

virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statement of 

income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 

discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 

liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 

recognized as interest expense. 

 

Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements.  These are disclosed 

unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  Contingent 

assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to 

consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

Earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the year by the weighted 

average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year after giving retroactive 

effect to stock dividends or stock splits declared during the year and adjusted for the effects of 

dilutive stock warrants and other dilutive securities.  Effects of anti-dilutive potential common shares 

are not considered in computing diluted earnings per share. 

 

Segment Reporting 

The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of 

the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that 

offers different products and serves different markets (see Note 18). 

 

Events After the Reporting Date 

Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at the 

reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post year-end 
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events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements 

when material. 

 

 

3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates 

 

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in compliance with PFRS 

requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 

in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes.  The judgments, estimates and 

assumptions used in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are based upon 

management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the consolidated 

financial statements.  Actual results could differ from such estimates.  The effects of any change in 

estimates are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as they become reasonably 

determinable. 

 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances. 

 

Judgments 

Functional currency 

Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances relevant to the Group, the 

functional currency of the Group has been determined to be the Philippine peso.  The Philippine peso 

is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates.  It is the currency 

that mainly influences the revenue and expenses of the Group. 

 

Classification of financial instruments 

The Group exercises judgments in classifying a financial instrument, or its component parts, upon 

initial recognition either as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance 

with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial 

liability or an equity instrument.  The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, 

governs its classification in the consolidated balance sheet. 

 

In addition, the Group classifies financial assets by evaluating, among others, whether the asset is 

quoted or not in an active market.  Included in the evaluation on whether a financial asset is quoted in 

an active market is the determination on whether the quoted prices are readily and regularly available, 

and whether those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s 

length basis (see Note 21). 

 

Contingencies 

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is a defendant in various litigations and claims.  The 

estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation 

with internal and external counsels handling the Group’s defense in these matters and is based upon 

analysis of potential results.  Although there can be no assurances, the Group believes, based on 

information currently available and the advise by its legal counsels, that the ultimate resolution of 

these legal proceedings would not likely have a material, adverse effect on the results of operations, 

financial position or liquidity of the Group.  It is possible, however, that the future results of 

operations could be materially affected by changes in estimates or in the effectiveness of the 

strategies relating to these litigations and claims (see Note 19). 
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Estimates and Assumptions 

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

The Group carries and discloses certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, which requires 

extensive use of accounting estimates and judgments.  While significant components of fair value 

measurement were determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., quoted prices, interest rates, 

foreign exchange rates, volatility), the amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group 

utilized a different valuation methodology.  Any changes in fair value of these financial assets and 

liabilities would affect income and loss or amount disclosed. 

 

Where the fair value of certain financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated 

balance sheet cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using internal valuation 

techniques using generally accepted market valuation models.  The inputs to these models are taken 

from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimates are used in 

establishing fair values.  The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as 

correlation and volatility for longer dated derivatives. 

 

The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments are presented in Note 21 to the consolidated 

financial statements.  The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL is P=53,750,067 

and P=44,579,898 as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 , respectively (see Note 5).  The 

carrying amount of the Group’s AFS investments is P=336,727,497 and P=335,598,819 as of  

September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 , respectively (see Note 9).  The carrying amount of the 

Group’s HTM investments is nil as of September 30, 2011 and  December 31, 2010 (see Note 8). 

 

Allowance for impairment losses on loans and receivables 

The Group reviews its loans and receivables (trade receivables and receivables from related party) at 

each reporting date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated 

statement of income.  In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the 

amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance required.  Such 

estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting 

in future changes to the allowance. 

 

On receivables from related parties, the Group uses judgment, based on the best available facts and 

circumstances, including but not limited to, assessment of the related parties’ operating activities 

(active or dormant), business viability and overall capacity to pay, in providing reserve allowance 

against recorded receivable amounts.  For trade receivables, the Group evaluates specific accounts 

where the Group has information that certain third parties are unable to meet their financial 

obligations.  Facts, such as the Group’s length of relationship with the customers or other parties and 

the customers’ or other parties’ current credit status, are considered to ascertain the amount of 

reserves that will be recorded.  These allowances are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional 

information is received.  The balance of the Group’s allowance for impairment losses 

on receivables and receivables from related parties is P=186,362,474 as of September 30, 2011 and 

December 31, 2010 (see Notes 6 and 16).  The carrying amount of the Group’s receivables, net of 

allowance for impairment losses, is P=8,883,184 and P=46,089,430 as of  September 30, 2011 and 

December 31, 2010  respectively (see Note 6).  The carrying amount of the Group’s receivables from 

related parties, net of allowance for impairment losses, is P=3,680,599 and P=2,794,771 of September 

30, 2011 and December 31, 2010  respectively (see Note 16). 

 

Impairment of AFS Investments 

The Group recognizes impairment losses on AFS investments when there has been a significant or 

prolonged decline in the fair value of such investments below its cost or where other objective 

evidence of impairment exists.  The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires 

judgment.  In determining whether the decline in value is significant, the Group considers historical 
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volatility of share price (i.e., the higher the historical volatility, the greater the decline in fair value 

before it is likely to be regarded as significant) and the period of time over which the share price has 

been depressed (i.e., a sudden decline is less significant than a sustained fall of the same magnitude 

over a longer period). 

 

The balance of the Group’s allowance for impairment losses on investment in equity securities 

remains unchanged at P=10,594,000 as of  September 30, 2011 and  December 31, 2010 , respectively 

(see Notes 9 and 20).  The carrying amount of the Group’s AFS investments is P=336,727,497 and   

P=335,598,819 as of  September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010  respectively (see Note 9). 

 

Impairment of nonfinancial assets 

The Group determines whether investments in associates, property and equipment and investment 

properties are impaired at least on an annual basis.  This requires an estimation of the value in use of 

the cash-generating units to which the assets are allocated.  Estimating the value in use requires the 

Group to make estimates of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to 

choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

 

The Group recognized impairment loss on its investment in MUDC, an associate, amounting to  

P=94,830,129 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.  The impairment is based on the Group’s assessment 

of the fair value of the investment in MUDC using the discounted cash flow method.  The Group has 

fully provided an allowance for impairment in its investment in MUDC since the Group does not 

expect any cash inflows from the investment. The carrying amount of the Group’s investment in 

MUDC is now carried at nil.  The carrying amount of the Group’s investments in associates remains 

unchanged at  P=137,446,329 as of  September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010  respectively (see 

Note 7). 

 

The carrying amount of the Group’s property and equipment is P=31,332,613 and P=32,336,533 as of 

September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 , respectively (see Note 10). The carrying amount of the 

Group’s investment properties is P=46,319,625 and P=414,394,525as of  September 30, 2011 and 

December 31, 2010  (see Note 11). 

 

Useful lives of property and equipment 

The estimated useful lives used as bases for depreciating the Group’s property and equipment were 

determined on the basis of management’s assessment of the period within which the benefits of these 

assets are expected to be realized taking into account actual historical information on the use of such 

assets as well as industry standards and averages applicable to the Group’s assets.  The carrying 

amount of the Group’s property and equipment is P=31,332,613 and P=32,336,533 as of  September 30, 

2011 and December 31, 2010 , respectively (see Note 10). 

 

Pension and other retirement benefits 

The determination of the obligation and cost of pension and other retirement benefits is dependent on 

the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts.  Those 

assumptions are described in Note 13, and include among others, discount rates and salary increase 

rates.  In accordance with PFRS, actual results that differ from the Group’s assumptions are 

accumulated and amortized over future periods and therefore, generally affect the recognized expense 

and recorded obligation in such future periods.  While the Group believes that the assumptions are 

reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in 

the assumptions may materially affect the pension and other retirement obligations.  Retirement 

benefits expense recognized amounted to P=651,707, P=512,291 and P=512,503 million in 2010, 2009 

and 2008, respectively.  The carrying amount of the Group’s retirement benefit obligations remains 



25 

 

unchanged at  P=3,407,403 as of  September 30, 2011 and  December 31, 2010 , respectively (see Note 

13). 

 

Realizability of deferred income tax assets 

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred income tax assets at each reporting date and 

reduces it to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to 

allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.  However, there is no assurance that 

the Group will generate sufficient taxable income to allow all or part of its deferred income tax assets 

to be utilized.  The Group has unrecognized deferred income tax assets on temporary differences 

amounting to P=269,198,718 and P=264,465,224 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see 

Note 14). 

 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

 September, 2011 December, 2010 

Cash on hand and with banks P=10,130,296 P=15,849,243 
Short-term placements 20,090,065 16,808,902 

 P=30,220,361 P=32,658,145 

 

Cash with banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates.  Short-term placements are fixed 

rate time deposits denominated in United States (US) dollar and Philippine peso, made for varying 

periods of up to three months or less depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and 

earn interest at the respective bank rates from 2.0% to 6.5% in 2010 and 2009.  Interest income 

earned from cash and cash equivalents amounted to P=1.2 million in 2010 and 2009. 

 

5. Financial Assets at FVPL 
 

Financial assets at FVPL consist of listed securities which are traded in the Philippine Stock 

Exchange (PSE) and New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).  Fair values of listed equity securities are 

based on quoted market prices in the PSE and NYSE. 

 

The carrying value of financial assets at FVPL is P=53,750,067 and P=44,579,898 as of  September 30, 

2011 and December 31, 2010 respectively. 

 

6. Receivables 
 

 September , 2011 December, 2010 

Third parties   

 Accrued interest P=8,893,265 P=8,613,753 
 Others 523,896 508,813 
Related parties:   
 Management fees (see Note 16) 45,197,865 45,197,865 
 Accrued interest (see Note 16) 43,753,772 43,753,772 
 Dividend receivable (see Note 7) - 37,500,086 
 Others 624,573 625,328 

 98,993,371 136,199,617 
Less allowance for impairment losses 90,110,187 90,110,187 
 P=8,883,184 P=46,089,430 

 

Receivables from third parties consist of mainly of accrued interest receivable. 
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Movements in the allowance for impairment losses on receivables are as follows: 

 

  Related Parties (see Note 16)  

 Third parties 

Management 

fees 

Accrued 

interest Others Total 

At January 1, 2008 P=620,789 P=45,197,865 P=25,194,478 P=37,762 P=71,050,894 
Provision during the year 500,000 – 19,959,293 – 20,459,293 

At December 31, 2008 1,120,789 45,197,865 45,153,771 37,762 91,510,187 
Written-off during the year – – (1,400,000) – (1,400,000) 

At December 31, 2009 and 

2010 P=1,120,789 P=45,197,865 P=43,753,771 P=37,762 P=90,110,187 

 

There is no movement in the allowance for impairment losses on receivables as of  September 30, 2011. 

 

7. Investments in Associates 

 

 September, 2011 December, 2010 

Unquoted equity stocks:   

Cost:   

 Acquisition cost P=174,970,640 P=174,970,640 
 Additional investment – – 
 174,970,640 174,970,640 

Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 At beginning of year 18,111,688 18,111,688 
 Equity in net earnings for the year 56,304,636 56,304,636 
 Dividends received (37,500,000) (37,500,000) 

 At end of year 36,916,324 36,916,324 

 211,886,964 211,886,964 
Less allowance for impairment losses 94,830,129 94,830,129 

 117,056,835 117,056,835 
Advances 20,389,494 20,389,494 

 P=137,446,329 P=137,446,329 

 

The Group has equity interest in the unquoted equity stocks of and additional advances to the 

following associates as of December 31: 

 

 

Country of 

Percentage 

of Ownership 

Carrying amount of 

Investment 

Incorporation 2010 2009 2010 2009 

      

MUDC Philippines 43 43 P=94,830,129 P=94,830,129 

Less allowance for impairment losses    (94,830,129) (94,830,129) 

    – – 

BPO Philippines 35 35 63,803,645 61,736,094 

PTC Philippines 30 30 73,642,684 56,905,599 

    P=137,446,329 P=118,641,693 
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MUDC 

The Group has a 43% interest in MUDC.  As of December 31, 2010, MUDC has not yet started 

commercial operations.  However, it has obtained the necessary requirements for the signing of a 

supply agreement with a public utility firm and a purchase agreement with certain oil companies.  As 

of December 31, 2010 and 2009, MUDC has project development costs of P=207.1 million recorded in 

its books.  The recoverability of these assets is dependent upon the signing of these agreements and 

the ultimate success of MUDC’s future operation.  The foregoing conditions indicate the existence of 

a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about MUDC’s ability to continue as a going 

concern and the recoverability of the Group’s significant investment in MUDC.  

 

As of  December 31, 2010 and 2009, MUDC has incurred significant losses, which resulted to a 

deficit of P=436.7 million and P=435.5 million, respectively, and capital deficiency of   P=255.8 million 

and P= 254.6 million, respectively. 

 

Moreover, the Group’s share of the losses of MUDC exceeded the carrying amount of its investment.  

Additional losses are provided for by MCHC to the extent that it has made payments.  The Group has 

assessed that its investment and advances to MUDC amounting to P=94.8 million is impaired since 

management believes that it is probable that the Group will no longer recover such investment and 

advances. 

 

Accordingly, the Group provided a full allowance for impairment losses on its receivables from 

MUDC due to the nonrecoverability of the project development costs incurred in 2004. 

 

BPO 

BPO is a provider of accounting and finance related services such as payroll services, internal audit, 

payables processing and others.  It is involved in outsourcing business process services in the 

Philippines, servicing many of the multinational and large corporations operating in the country.   

 

The Group’s equity in net earnings from BPO amounted to P=12.6 million, P=12.0 million and 

P=9.5 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Investment in BPO includes goodwill of  

P=23.4 million. 

 

On August 26, 2009, the BOD of BPO approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to 

P=40.0 million or P=142.86 per share of BPO’s common stocks as of record date December 5, 2008.  

The Group recognized dividend income of P=14.0 million.  Another cash dividend declaration was 

approved by the BOD of BPO on December 31, 2009 amounting to P=12.0 million or P=42.86 per share 

of BPO’s common stocks as of record date December 31, 2009, to be paid on or before 

April 15, 2010.  The Group recognized dividend receivable/income amounting to P=4.2 million in 

2010 (see Note 6). 

 

On December 17, 2010, the BOD of BPO approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to  

P=30.0 million or P=107.14 per share of BPO’s common stocks as of record date December 17, 2010.  

The Group recognized dividend receivable/income amounting to P=10.5 million in 2010 (see Note 6). 

In March, 2011, the Group received cash dividends in the amount of P 10.5 million. 
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PTC 

PTC is a global service company outsourcing information technology services from the Philippines.  

Among others, it offers software servicing, maintenance, testing and development to various clients, 

mostly in the US.  The Group has 30% interest in PTC. 

 

The Group’s equity in net earnings from PTC amounted to P=43.7 million, P=21.3 million and 

P=19.2 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  

 

On December 15, 2009, the BOD of PTC approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to  

P=100.1 million or P=0.89 per share of PTC’s common stocks as of record date December 30, 2009, to 

be paid on or before June 30, 2010.  The Group recognized dividend receivable/income amounting to 

P=30.0 million in 2009 (see Note 6).  

 

On December 10, 2010, the BOD of PTC approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to  

P=90.0 million or P=0.89 per share of PTC’s common stocks as of record date December 31, 2010, to be 

paid on or before June 30, 2011.  The Group recognized dividend receivable amounting to 

P=27.0 million in 2010 (see Note 6). In April, 2011, the Group received cash dividends in the amount 

of P 27 million. 

 

Summarized combined financial information of associates follow: 

 

 2010 2009 2008 

Current assets P=592,291,218 P=500,154,566 P=447,686,260 

Noncurrent assets 119,349,729 129,690,718 170,278,593 

Total assets 711,640,947 629,845,284 617,964,853 

    

Current liabilities 291,712,005 463,875,359 408,466,465 

Noncurrent liabilities 316,948,208 123,333,362 109,687,063 

Total liabilities 608,660,213 587,208,721 518,153,528 

    

Revenues 984,411,729 768,026,030 758,598,623 

Expenses 791,551,137 646,946,034 668,545,239 

Net income 183,729,869 104,224,699 90,053,384 

 

 

8. HTM Investments 

 

In 2008, the Group reclassified certain financial assets included under “AFS Investments” to “HTM 

investments” in the 2008 consolidated balance sheet.  On July 1, 2008, the Group identified financial 

assets for which it had a clear change of intent to hold until maturity rather than to exit or trade in the 

short term.  The disclosures below detail the impact of the reclassifications on the Group. 

 

As of the reclassification date, effective interest rates on reclassified debt securities ranged from 6.7% 

to 15.0% with expected recoverable cash flows of $4.3 million (equivalent to 

P=193.7 million).  Ranges of effective interest rates were determined based on effective interest rates 

of the investments. 

 

As of July 1, 2008, the unrealized losses on changes in fair value of the Group’s reclassified AFS 

investments amounted to P=25.4 million (including the share of non-controlling interest of 

P=1.3 million), which is presented as “Net unrealized valuation gains (losses) on AFS investments” in 
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the 2008 consolidated balance sheet and is amortized over the remaining life of the investment using 

the effective interest rate method.  If the reclassification had not been made, the Group’s equity would 

have included an additional unrealized loss on changes in fair value of AFS investments amounting to 

P=24.8 million as of December 31, 2009. 

 

The following table shows the carrying values and fair values of the reclassified assets: 

 

Debt securities July 1, 2008 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2009 March 19,2010 

Carrying Value P=193,907,662 P=176,046,092 P=130,816,471 P=127,170,226 

Fair Value 193,662,715 138,557,051 136,178,292 132,093,811 

 

After reclassification, the Group recognized amortization of the net unrealized loss on changes in fair 

value of the reclassified AFS investments amounting to P=646,887 and P=9,690,812 in 2010 and 2009, 

respectively, and is presented as “Amortization of unrealized losses on changes in fair value of AFS 

investments” in the consolidated statements of income.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the 

unamortized unrealized losses on changes in fair value of the reclassified AFS investments amounted 

toP=3,342,285 and P=6,045,007, respectively. 

 

On March 19, 2010, however, the Group sold a significant amount of its HTM investments 

amounting to P=10.7 million.  Under the provisions of PAS 39, no investment should be classified as 

HTM during the current financial year and in the next two financial years, if the reporting entity has 

sold or reclassified more than an insignificant (in relation to the total) amount of such investments 

before maturity.  Therefore, following the stated provisions, the Group’s remaining portfolio of HTM 

investments was reclassified as AFS and was remeasured at fair value. The Group recognized fair 

value gains of P=4,923,585 for the difference between fair values and amortized costs of the 

reclassified securities. 

 

The HTM investments of the Group amounted to P=14,099,112 as of December 31, 2009 with a fair 

value of P=136,178,292, respectively (see Note 21).  

 

The above investments of the Group earn interest ranging from 7.4% to 10.8% in 2010 and 2009 and 

have contractual maturity dates of less than 10 years. Interest income earned from amounted to P=1.33 

million and P=10.9 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

 

 

9. AFS Investments 

 
 September, 2011 December, 2010 

Debt securities P=317,936,486 P=316,807,808 
Equity securities 18,791,011 18,791,011 

 P=336,727,497 P=335,598,819 

 

Investment in debt securities 

Investments in debt securities are denominated in US dollar and are stated at fair value based on 

quoted prices.  Changes in market values are included in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income.  Fixed interest rate ranges from 6.0% to 13.6% per annum.  Value date of the 

investments ranges from August 4, 2009 to December 22, 2009 and maturity dates range from March 

9, 2011 to September 4, 2019.  Interests on investments are received and settled semi-annually in US 

dollar. 
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As discussed in Note 8, on July 1, 2008, the Group reclassified certain investment in debt securities 

from AFS investments to HTM investments.  On March 19, 2010, the Group reclassified back the 

entire balance of its HTM investments to AFS investments following the sale of a significant portion 

of its HTM investments (see Note 8). 

Net unrealized valuation gains on AFS investments presented in the equity section of the consolidated 

balance sheets as of September 30, 2011 amounted to P=9,538,779.  Net unrealized valuation gains on 

AFS investments amounted to P=9,650,109 as of December 31, 2010. 

 

Interest income earned from AFS investments amounted to P=21.4 million and P=5.7 million for 

September 30, 2011 and  December 31, 2010, respectively. 

 

Movements in the net unrealized valuation gains (losses) on AFS investments are as follows: 

 

As of September 30, 2011: 

 Parent 

Non-controlling 

Interests Total 

Beginning balance P=9,650,108 P=507,900 P=10,158,008 

Changes in fair value of AFS investments (111,329) (5,859) (117,188) 

Reclassification of HTM investments to AFS    
Amortization of unrealized losses on 

changes in fair value of AFS 
investments previously reclassified to 
HTM (see Note 8)   

 

Disposal of AFS investments    

Ending balance P=9,538,779 P=502,041 P=10,040,820 

 
As of December 31, 2010: 

 Parent 

Non-controlling 

Interests Total 

Beginning balance (P=2,246,492) (P=118,236) (P=2,364,728) 

Changes in fair value of AFS investments 7,483,342 422,681 7,906,023 

Reclassification of HTM investments to AFS 4,677,406 246,180 4,923,586 
Amortization of unrealized losses on 

changes in fair value of AFS 
investments previously reclassified to 
HTM (see Note 8) 614,543 32,344 

 

 

646,887 

Disposal of AFS investments (878,691) (46,247) (924,938) 

Ending balance P=9,650,108 P=536,722 P=10,186,830 

 

Investment in equity securities 

Investment in equity securities consist of proprietary club shares and investments in quoted shares of 

stock which the Group has neither control nor significant influence.  The Group recognized provision 

for impairment losses amounting to P=20,000 and P=40,000 in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

 

 The fair market values of these listed shares are determined by reference to published quotations in an 

active market as of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010. 
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10. Property and Equipment 
 

As of September 30, 2011: 
 

 Condominium 
Condominium 
Improvements 

Transportation 
Equipment 

Office 
Furniture, 

Fixtures and 
Equipment 

 
Total 

Cost:      
Balances at beginning of year P=47,014,750 P=8,058,590 P=8,656,378 P=2,498,613 P=66,228,331 

 Additions during the year – – 1,578,571 30,325 1,608,896 
 Disposals during the year – – (1,598,000) – (1,598,000) 

 Balances at end of year 47,014,750 8,058,590 8,636,949 2,528,938 66,239,227 

Accumulated depreciation:      
 Balances at beginning of year 19,276,760 7,051,332 5,154,694 2,409,012 33,891,798 
 Depreciation  1,410,442 585,769 595,844 20,761 2,612,816 
 Disposals during the year – – (1,598,000) – (1,598,000) 

Balances at end of year 20,687,202 7,637,101 4,152,538 2,429,773 34,906,614 

Net book value P=26,327,548 P=421,489 P=4,484,411 99,165 P=31,332,613 

 

As of December 31, 2010: 
 

 Condominium 
Condominium 
Improvements 

Transportation 
Equipment 

Office 
Furniture, 

Fixtures and 
Equipment 

 
Total 

Cost:      
Balances at beginning of year P=47,014,750 P=8,058,590 P=9,399,560 P=2,456,292 P=66,929,192 

 Additions during the year – – – 42,321 42,321 
 Disposals during the year – – (743,182) – (743,182) 

 Balances at end of year 47,014,750 8,058,590 8,656,378 2,498,613 66,228,331 

Accumulated depreciation:      
 Balances at beginning of year 17,396,170 6,270,306 5,073,979 2,389,652 31,130,107 
 Depreciation  1,880,590 781,026 712,420 19,360 3,393,396 
 Disposals during the year – – (631,705) – (631,705) 

Balances at end of year 19,276,760 7,051,332 5,154,694 2,409,012 33,891,798 

Net book value P=27,737,990 P=1,007,258 P=3,501,684 P=89,601 P=32,336,533 

 

11. Investment Properties 
 

Investment properties consist of parcels of land held by BAID and its subsidiaries with a total land 

area of 494,798 square meters located in Barangay Pinamucan, Batangas City.  These parcels of land 

are currently being held by the Group for an undetermined future use. The carrying amount of the 

investment properties as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 represents the revalued amount that is equal 

to the fair value at the date of revaluation, considered to be “deemed cost”, and determined on 

January 4, 2005 by an independent firm of appraisers. During the third quarter of 2011, these parcels 

of land were disposed.  

 

The fair value of investment properties, which has been determined based on valuations performed by 

Cuervo Appraisers, Inc. as of July 27, 2010 and February 25, 2011, exceeded its carrying costs. Fair 

value represents the amount at which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable, 

willing buyer and knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation.  

The aggregate fair value of the land as of December 31, 2010 amounted to P=975.9 million. 

 

Investment properties also include land held by MCHC situated in Fort Bonifacio, Taguig.  This land 

is currently held by the Company for an undetermined future use.  Based on the latest appraisal report 

dated February 25, 2011, the fair value of this property amounts to P=129.7 million. 
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12. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

 

 September, 2011 December , 2010 

Deposits payable P=1,155,328 P=1,144,384 
Accrued expenses 268,390 360,210 
Others 3,059,496 1,427,912 

 P=4,483,214 P=2,932,506 

 

Deposits payable pertain to deposits made by tenants for the lease of the Group’s surplus 

condominium spaces.  Accrued expenses include accrual for professional fees.  Other payables 

include withholding tax and other government payables. 

 

 

13. Retirement Benefits 

 

The Group has an unfunded, defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of its regular 

employees.  Retirement benefits under the plan are based on a percentage of latest monthly salary 

and years of credited service.   

 

The latest independent actuarial valuation of the plan as of December 31, 2010, prepared by an 

independent actuary, is determined using the projected unit credit method in accordance with PAS 

19. 

 

The following tables summarize the components of retirement benefit expense recognized in the 

consolidated statements of income and the unfunded status and amounts recognized in the 

consolidated balance sheets for the plan. 

 

The composition of retirement benefits expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income 

are as follows: 

 

 2010 2009 2008 

Current service cost P=433,822 P=353,352 P=389,703 

Interest cost on benefit obligation 201,939 158,732 122,008 

Net actuarial losses 15,946 207 6,792 

Net benefit expense P=651,707 P=512,291 P=518,503 

 

The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as retirement benefit obligations are as 

follows: 

 

 2010 2009 

Present value of obligations P=4,031,877 P=3,022,933 

Unrecognized net actuarial losses (624,474) (267,237) 

Retirement benefit obligations P=3,407,403 P=2,755,696 
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Changes in the present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations are as follows: 

 

 2010 2009 

Present value of obligations at beginning of year P=3,022,933 P=2,284,736 

Current service cost 433,822 353,352 

Interest cost on benefit obligation 201,939 158,732 

Net actuarial losses on obligation 373,183 226,113 

Present value of obligations at end of year P=4,031,877 P=3,022,933 

 

Movements in the retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are as 

follows: 

 

 2010 2009 

Beginning balances P=2,755,696 P=2,243,405 

Net periodic pension costs 651,707 512,291 

Ending balances P=3,407,403 P=2,755,696 

 

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining retirement benefit obligations for the Group’s 

retirement plan are as follows: 

 

 2010 2009 2008 

Discount rate 6.10% 8.8% 9.0% 

Salary increase rate 5.00% 5.0% 3.0% 

 

Amounts for the current year and previous four (4) years are as follows: 

 

 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 

Unfunded defined benefit obligations P=3,407,403 P=2,755,696 P=2,243,405 P=1,724,902 P=1,259,543 

Experience adjustments on plan  

 liabilities - losses (gains) 373,183 (228,402) – 100,019 (97,583) 

 

 

14. Income Taxes 

 

The components of the net deferred income tax liabilities are as follows: 

 

 2010 2009 

Deferred income tax assets:   

 Recognized directly in income:   

  Allowance for impairment losses on 

  receivables and AFS investments P=17,299,672 P=20,626,093 
 

Deferred income tax liabilities:   

 Recognized directly in equity:   

  Share in revaluation increment on  

  investment properties of MCHC’s  

  subsidiaries (see Note 11) 20,584,494 20,584,494 

 Recognized directly in income:   

  Net unrealized foreign exchange gains 17,299,672 20,626,093 

 37,884,166 41,210,587 

Net deferred income tax liabilities P=20,584,494 P=20,584,494 
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No deferred income tax assets were recognized on the following deductible temporary differences 

because management believes that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to 

allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 

 

 2010 2009 

Allowance for impairment losses on receivables and 

AFS investments P=140,411,689 P=129,303,620 

Allowance for impairment losses on investments in 

associates 94,830,129 94,830,129 

Unamortized unrealized losses on changes in fair 

value of AFS investments 18,056,511 17,409,624 

NOLCO 8,709,654 18,690,285 

Retirement benefit obligations 3,407,403 2,755,696 

Unrealized FOREX Loss 2,917,092 – 

Amortization of premium on HTM investments 259,968 1,054,380 

MCIT 606,272 421,490 

 P=269,198,718 P=264,465,224 

 

Reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the statutory income tax rate to provision for 

(benefit from) income tax shown in the consolidated statements of income follows: 

 

 2010 2009 2008 

Provision for (benefit from) income tax at effective 

statutory tax rate of 30.0% in 2010 and 2009 and 

35.0% in 2008 P=16,987,498 P=10,535,685 P=16,040,853 

Additions to (reductions in) income tax resulting 

 from:    

 Unrecognized deferred income tax assets 1,549,395 5,877,419 13,239,945 

 Expired NOLCO 881,129 – – 

 Expired MCIT 68,106 – – 

 Unallowable EAR 50,378 77,206 73,482 

 Equity in net earnings of associates (16,891,391) (9,992,182) (10,044,981) 

 Nontaxable gain (loss) on fair value changes of     

  financial assets at FVPL (852,344) (5,068,777) 8,645,047 

 Interest income subjected to final tax (370,179) (1,115,863) (2,061,895) 

 Dividend income exempt from tax (113,686) (194,923) (347,293) 

 Nondeductible expenses – 20,216 420 

 Change in recognized deferred income tax assets – – (492,871) 

Effect of changes in tax rates – – (3,521,205) 

 Non taxable gain on sale of financial assets at  

  FVPL – (87,000) – 

 P=1,308,906 P=51,781 P=21,531,502 

 

As of December 31, 2010, the Group has NOLCO that can be claimed as deduction from future 

taxable income and MCIT that can be used against payment of regular income tax as follows: 

NOLCO: 

 

Year of 

Recognition 

Availment 

Period 

Beginning 

Balance Additions Applied Expired Ending Balance 

2007 2008-2010 P=2,937,095 P=– P=– (P=2,937,095) P=– 

2008 2009-2011 12,377,828 – (9,568,864) – 2,808,964 

2009 2010-2012 3,375,362 – – – 3,375,362 

2010 2011-2013 – 2,525,328 – – 2,525,328 
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  P=18,690,285 P=2,525,328 (P=9,568,864) (P=2,937,095) P=8,709,654 

MCIT: 

 

Year of 

Recognition Availment Period 

Beginning 

Balance Additions Applied Expired Ending Balance 

2007 2008-2010 P=68,106 P=– P=– (P=68,106) P=– 

2008 2009-2011 301,603 – – – 301,603 

2009 2010-2012 51,781 – – – 51,781 

2010 2011-2013 – 252,888 – – 252,888 

  P=421,490 P=252,888 P=– (P=68,106) P=606,272 

 

Republic Act (RA) No. 9337 

RA No. 9337, which became effective on November 1, 2005, amended various provisions in the 1997 

National Internal Revenue Code.  The reforms introduced by RA No. 9337 included the increase in 

the corporate income tax rate from 32% to 35% beginning November 1, 2005, with a reduction 

thereof to 30% beginning January 1, 2009.  RA No. 9337 also provided for the increase in 

unallowable interest rate from 38% to 42% beginning November 1, 2005, with a reduction thereof to 

33% beginning January 1, 2009. 

 

 

15. Equity 

a. Common stock 

 

 2010 2009 

 Common stock - P=1 par value   

 Class A   

  Authorized - 600 million shares   

  Issued and outstanding - 292,610,118 shares P=292,610,118 P=292,610,118 

 Class B    

  Authorized - 400 million shares   

  Issued and outstanding - 189,217,535 shares 189,217,535 189,217,535 

 P=481,827,653 P=481,827,653 

 

Class A and B common stockholders enjoy the same rights and privileges, except that Class A 

shares may be owned by, transferred to and subscribed only by Filipino citizens or corporations, 

partnerships and associations organized under the laws of the Philippines, of which 60% of the 

capital stock outstanding is owned by citizens of the Philippines.  Class B shares may be issued, 

transferred or sold to any person, corporation, partnership or association regardless of nationality. 

 

b.  Treasury shares 

 

In 2002, MCHC subscribed, through this offering, to 47,143,022 Class A shares.  On the other 

hand, PIEI subscribed to 9,762,114 Class A shares and 37,496,379 Class B shares.  In 2005, 

additional 260,000 Class A shares and 20,000 Class B shares were transferred by the transfer 

agent to PIEI.  For consolidation purposes, the costs of these shares are presented under the 

“Treasury shares” account in the equity section of the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

In a special meeting held on May 22, 2003, the BOD resolved that the period for the payment of 

the deferred tranche be extended to 60 days from May 9, 2003 to July 9, 2003.  If no payment is 

made within 30 days from July 9, 2003, the shares pertaining to the unpaid subscriptions shall 
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become delinquent.  On August 9, 2003, shares of stock amounting to  P=715,312 were declared 

delinquent and sold at a public auction on October 9, 2003.  There was only one bidder, PIEI, to 

whom the delinquent shares were sold, and in whose favor a certificate of sale was issued.  In 

2004, additional 60,000 shares of stock of the Group were sold to PIEI at P=48,100. 

 

c. Net unrealized valuation gains (losses) on AFS investments 

 

Net unrealized valuation gains on AFS investments presented in the equity section of the 

consolidated balance sheets amounted to P=9,538,779 as of September 30, 2011 and net unrealized 

valuation gains/losses on AFS investments amounted to P=9,650,109 as of December 31, 2010 (see 

Notes 8 and 9). 

 

d. Retained earnings 

 

Retained earnings is restricted to the extent of the acquisition price of the treasury shares 

amounting to P=95,791,606 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 

The retained earnings balance as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 also includes the revaluation 

increment on investment properties of P=62,793,927, which is not available for distribution until 

realized. 

 

On July 28, 2011, the BOD declared a regular cash dividend amounting to P=0.07 per share held or 

P=33,727,936 (481,827,653 shares multiplied by P=0.07 cash dividend per share) to stockholders as 

of record date of August 18, 2011, payable on or before September 15, 2011.   

 

 

16. Related Party Transactions 

 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control, directly or indirectly, the 

other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 

decisions.  Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common 

significant influence.  Related parties can be corporate or individual entities. 

 

A summary of receivable balances and transactions with related parties follows: 

 

 Current (see Note 6)         Noncurrent 

Related Parties Sept., 2011 Dec., 2010 Sept., 2011 Dec., 2010

MUDC P=88,951,636 P=88,951,636 P=101,046,081 P=100,165,260 
Others  37,762 37,500,086 7,594 2,587 

88,989,398 126,451,722 101,053,675 100,167,847 
Less allowance for 

impairment losses (88,989,398) (88,989,398) (97,373,076) (97,373,076)

P=                - P=37,462,324 P=3,680,599 P=2,794,771 
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Movements in the allowance for impairment losses on receivables from related parties are as follows: 

 

 Current Noncurrent Total 
At January 01, 2009 P=90,389,398 P=97,373,076 P=187,762,474 
Written-off during the year (1,400,000) – (1,400,000) 

At December 31, 2009 and 2010 P=88,989,398 P=97,373,076 P=186,362,474 

 

a. MCHC has executed a management agreement (the Agreement) with MUDC and other related 

parties.  The Agreement with MUDC requires MCHC to provide general management services 

for the operation of the business and affairs of MUDC for a period of five years, renewable for the 

same periods thereafter under certain terms and conditions, unless terminated earlier by either 

party after serving the required written notice to the other.   

 

 MCHC’s BOD approved MUDC’s request for suspension of the management fee for the period 

January 1, 2002 up to the contract’s expiration in March 2003.  Subsequently, the agreement was 

terminated in December 2002.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, management fees receivable 

from MUDC amounted to about P=45.2 million (see Note 6).  In 2004, the management fee 

receivable was fully provided with allowance for impairment losses since management believes 

that this is not likely to be collected in the future. 

 

b. MCHC has existing non-interest bearing long-term advances to MUDC of P=43.8 million, 

including accumulated unpaid interest, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.  In 2004, the Group 

ceased to accrue interest receivable on the said advances. 

 

c. In 2006, total non-interest bearing long-term advances to related parties amounting to  

about P=56.8 million, including the unamortized discount of P=23.4 million as of December 31, 

2005, was fully provided with allowance for impairment losses, since management believes that 

the entire balance is not likely to be collected in the future. 

 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group are as follows: 

 

 2010 2009 2008 

Short-term employee benefits P=6,469,580 P=6,469,580 P=6,469,580 

Long-term employee benefits 31,350 31,350 31,350 

 P=6,500,930 P=6,500,930 P=6,500,930 

 

 

17. Earnings Per Share 

 

 Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net income for the year attributable to 

equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the year. 

 

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the year 

attributable to equity holders of the parent (after adjusting for interest on the convertible preference 

shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive 

potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 
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 The following reflects the income (loss) and share data used in computing basic and diluted earnings 

per share for the years ended December 31: 

 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

Net income attributable to  equity 

holders of the parent P=55,032,767 P=35,620,671 P=23,284,773 
 

Weighted average number of 

 ordinary shares outstanding 

 for basic earnings per share 386,036,047 386,036,047 386,065,126 

Basic and diluted earnings per share  P=0.143 P=0.092 P=0.060 

 

 

18. Segment Information 

 

As mentioned in Notes 1 and 2, the primary purpose of the Company and its subsidiary, MCHC, is to 

invest in real and personal properties.  MCHC has subsidiaries engaged in real estate business which, 

as of December 31, 2010, have not yet started commercial operations.  Accordingly, the Group 

operates mainly in one reportable business segment which is investing and one reportable 

geographical segment which is the Philippines. 

 

 

19. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
a. The Group leases its surplus condominium spaces.  Future minimum rental income of 

P=6.2 million, P=5.9 million and P=5.7 million from existing rental agreements will be recognized in 

2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively. 

 

b. In the ordinary course of business, the Group is a defendant in various litigations and claims.  

Although there can be no assurances, the Group believes, based on information currently 

available and the advise by its legal counsels, that the ultimate resolution of these legal 

proceedings would not likely have a material, adverse effect on the results of operations, financial 

position or liquidity of the Group.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could 

be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of strategies relating to 

these proceedings. 

 

 

20. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

 

Risk Management Structure 

BOD 

The BOD is mainly responsible for the overall risk management approach and for the approval of risk 

strategies and principles of the Group.  It has also the overall responsibility for the development of 

risk strategies, principles, frameworks, policies and limits.  It establishes a forum of discussion of the 

Group’s approach to risk issues in order to make relevant decisions. 
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Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The principal financial instruments of the Group consist of financial assets at FVPL, short-term 

investments, fixed income deposits, AFS investments and HTM investments.  The main purpose of 

these financial instruments is to place excess cash in income-earning investments.  The Group has 

various other financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, receivables, receivables from 

related parties and accounts payable and accrued expenses which arise directly from its operations. 

 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market 

risk (i.e., interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk).  The Group’s management 

reviews and approves policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarized below.  The 

Group also monitors the market price risk arising from all financial instruments.  The magnitudes of 

these risks that have arisen over the year are discussed below. 

 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 

default on its obligation. 

 

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily because of its investing and operating activities.  The 

Group is exposed to credit risk arising from the counterparties (i.e., foreign currency denominated 

debt instruments, short-term investments, fixed income deposits and receivables) to its financial 

assets. 

 

Credit risk management 

In managing credit risk on these investments, capital preservation is paramount.  The Group trades 

only with recognized and creditworthy third parties.  For investments in bonds, funds are invested in 

highly recommended, creditworthy debt instruments that provides satisfactory interest yield and 

capital appreciation.  Investments in equity securities represent investments in companies with good 

dividend track record, as well as capital appreciation.  The investment portfolio mix between debt and 

equity is reviewed regularly by the Group’s President and Treasurer. 

 

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash 

and cash equivalents, receivables from third parties and related parties, short-term investments and 

fixed income deposits, the Group’s President and Treasurer monitor these financial assets on an 

ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to impairment losses is not significant. 

 

Credit risk exposures 

At reporting date, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of 

each class of financial assets recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. 

 

Credit risk concentration profile 

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
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Credit quality 

As of September 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 , the credit quality per class of financial assets 

follows: 

 

As of September 30, 2011: 

 
Neither past due nor 

impaired Past due 
but not 

impaired 
Individually 

impaired Total  High grade 
Standard 

grade 

Loans and receivables:      
 Cash and cash equivalents P=30,220,361 P=– P=– P=– P=30,220,361 
 Short-term investments 983,967,376 – – – 983,967,376 
 Receivables 8,883,184 – – 90,110,187 98,993,371 
 Fixed income deposits 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 
 Receivables from related 

 parties 3,680,599 
 

– 
 

– 
 

97,373,076 
 

101,053,675 
Financial assets at FVPL 53,750,067 – – – 53,750,067 
HTM investments – – – – – 
AFS investments 336,727,497 – – 10,594,000 347,321,497 

 P=1,418,229,084 P=– P=– 198,077,263 1,616,306,347 

 

As of December 31, 2010: 

 
Neither past due nor 

impaired Past due 
but not 

impaired 
Individually 

impaired Total  High grade 
Standard 

grade 

Loans and receivables:      
 Cash and cash equivalents P=32,649,145 P=– P=– P=– P=32,649,145 
 Short-term investments 6,812,562 – – – 6,812,562 
 Receivables 46,089,430 – – 90,110,187 136,199,617 
 Fixed income deposits 1,000,000 – – – 1,000,000 
 Receivables from related 

 parties 2,794,771 
 

– 
 

– 
 

97,373,076 
 

100,167,847 
Financial assets at FVPL 44,579,898 – – – 44,579,898 
HTM investments – – – – – 
AFS investments 335,598,819 – – 10,594,000 346,192,819 

 P=469,524,625 P=– P=– 198,077,263 667,601,888 

 

High grade financial assets 

High grade receivables pertain to receivables from related parties and customers with good payment 

history.  These receivables are considered to be of good quality and expected to be collectible without 

incurring any credit losses.  Other high grade financial assets reflect the investment grade quality of 

the investments and/or counterparty and realizability is thus assured. 

 

Standard grade financial assets 

Receivables from customers that slide beyond the credit terms are classified under standard grade.  

Other standard grade financial assets are considered moderately realizable. 

 

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the 

movement of the allowance used to record the impairment are as follows: 
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As of September 30, 2011: 

 Receivables 

Receivables 

from related 

parties 

AFS 

investments Total 

Nominal amounts P=98,993,371 P=101,053,675 P=347,321,497 P=547,368,543

Less allowance for impairment losses 90,110,187 97,373,076 10,594,000 198,077,263

At September 30, 2011 P=8,883,184 P=3,680,599 P=336,727,497 P=349,291,280

 

As of December 31, 2010: 

 Receivables 

Receivables 

from related 

parties 

AFS 

investments Total 

Nominal amounts P=136,199,617 P=100,167,847 P=346,192,819 P=582,560,283 

Less allowance for impairment losses 90,110,187 97,373,076 10,594,000 198,077,263 

At December 31, 2010 P=46,089,430 P=2,794,771 P=335,598,819 P=384,483,020 

 

 

Movement in allowance for impairment losses account: 

 

 Receivables 

Receivables 

from related 

parties 

AFS 

investments Total 

At January 1, 2009 P=91,510,187 P=97,373,076 P=10,534,000 P=199,417,263 

Provision during the year – – 40,000 40,000 

Written-off during the year (1,400,000) – – (1,400,000) 

At December 31, 2009 90,110,187 97,373,076 10,574,000 198,057,263 

Provision during the year – – 20,000 20,000 

At December 31, 2010 P=90,110,187 P=97,373,076 P=10,594,000 P=198,077,263 

 

Impairment assessment 

The main considerations for impairment assessment include whether any payments are overdue or if 

there are any known difficulties in the cash flows of the counterparties.  The Group determines 

allowance for each significant receivable on an individual basis.  Among the items that the Group 

considers in assessing impairment is the inability to collect from the counterparty based on the 

contractual terms of the receivables.  Receivables included in the specific assessment are accounts 

that have been endorsed to the legal department, nonmoving accounts receivable, accounts of 

defaulted agents and accounts from closed companies. 

 

The total provision for impairment losses on the financial assets recognized in the consolidated 

statements of income amounted to P=20,000, P=40,000 and P=20,709,293 in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 

respectively. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 

to shortage of funds. 
 

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due and this is done by primarily investing in highly 

liquid investments and maintaining a significant amount of cash and cash equivalents and pre-

terminable investments in its portfolio. 

 



42 

 

 

The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as of  

December 31, 2010 and 2009 based on contractual undiscounted cash flows.  The table also analyzes 

the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets in order to provide a complete view of the Group’s 

contractual commitments.  The analysis into relevant maturity groupings is based on the remaining 

period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity dates. 

 

 As of September 30, 2011: 
 

 
 

On demand < 1 year > 1 year Total 

Accounts payable and     
  accrued expenses P=2,165,622 P=– P=– P=2,165,622 
Dividends payable 103,168 – – 103,168 

 Total financial liabilities P=2,268,790 P=– P=– P=2,268,790 

     
Financial assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents P=30,220,361 P=– P=– P=30,220,361 

Short-term investments 983,967,376 – – 983,967,376 
Receivables 8,883,184 – – 8,883,184 
Financial assets at FVPL 53,750,067 – – 53,750,067 
Fixed income deposits – – 1,000,000 1,000,000 
AFS investments 336,727,497 – – 336,727,497 

 Total financial assets P=1,413,548,485 P=– P=1,000,000 P=1,414,548,485 

 

 As of December 31, 2010: 
 

 
 

On demand < 1 year > 1 year Total 

Accounts payable and     
  accrued expenses P=2,716,605 P=– P=– P=2,716,605 
Dividends payable 103,523 – – 103,523 

 Total financial liabilities P=2,820,128 P=– P=– P=2,820,128 

     
Financial assets:     
Cash and cash equivalents P=32,658,145 P=– P=– P=32,658,145 
Short-term investments 6,812,562 – – 6,812,562 
Receivables 48,884,201 – – 48,884,201 
Financial assets at FVPL 44,579,898 – – 44,579,898 
Fixed income deposits – – 1,000,000 1,000,000 
AFS investments 335,598,819 – – 335,598,819 

 Total financial assets P=468,533,625 P=– P=1,000,000 P=469, 533,625 

 

Market Risks 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices.  
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The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates, foreign 

currency exchange rates and equity prices.  There has been no change in the Group’s exposure to 

market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk. 

 

a. Interest rate risk 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that 

the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 

 

The Group derives majority of its revenue from interest-bearing placements and bonds. 

Accordingly, the Group is subject to financial risk arising from changes in interest rates. The 

Group manages interest rate risk by investing mainly on fixed coupon bonds and other 

investments.  By doing so, the Group is assured of future interest revenues from such 

investments. 

 

Since the Group invests on fixed coupon interest bonds and other investments, the Group is not 

exposed significantly to cash flow interest rate risk. 

 

The following table demonstrates management’s best estimate of the sensitivity to a reasonably 

possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s equity due 

to changes in fair values of AFS investments in debt securities (see  

Note 9): 

 

 September , 2011 December, 2010 

Change in interest rate (in basis points)   

 +10% (P=31,793,649) (P=31,887,334) 
 –10% 31,793,649 31,887,334 
 

b. Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial 

instruments will fluctuate because of changes in foreign currencies.  

 

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into transactions denominated in US dollar and 

other foreign currencies.  As a result, the Group is subject to transaction and translation exposures 

resulting from currency exchange rate fluctuations.  The Group regularly monitors outstanding 

financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies and maintains them at a level responsive to the 

current exchange rates so as to minimize the risks related these foreign currency denominated 

assets and liabilities. 
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Information on the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and their Philippine 

peso equivalent as of December 31 are as follows: 

 

US Dollar: 

 

 September,  2011 December, 2010 

 US Dollar 
Peso 

Equivalent US Dollar
1
 

Peso 

Equivalent 

Cash and cash equivalents $446,576 P=19,486,790 $482,872 P=21,169,108 
Receivables 130,888 5,711,429 195,324 8,563,004 
Short-term investments 445,486 19,439,227 155,396 6,812,561 
AFS investments 5,143,491 224,441,373 – – 
HTM investments – – 6,444,500 282,526,880 
Other noncurrent assets 251,561 10,977,116 251,561 11,028,434 

 6,418,002 P=280,055,935 $7,529,653 P=330,099,987 
1
USD=P=43.84 

 

Other Foreign Currencies: 

 September, 2011 

 Currency Exchange Rate 
Original 

Currency 
Peso 

Equivalent 

Cash and cash equivalents EUR 59.28 10,880 P=    644,966 
 HKD 5.60 - - 
 AUD 42.64 - - 
AFS investments EUR 59.28 151,312 8,969,775 
 HKD 5.60 2,074,313 11,616,153 
 AUD 42.64 78,530 3,348,520 

 

         RMB 
BRL 

6.82
23.90

2,137,825 
622,058 

14,579,967 
14,867,186 

    P=54,026,567 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

 December, 2010 

 Currency Exchange Rate 
Original 

Currency 
Peso 

Equivalent 

Cash and cash equivalents EUR 58.03 11,801 P=684,875 
 HKD 5.64 51,900 292,685 
 AUD 44.64 3,750 167,399 
AFS investments EUR 58.03 222,902 12,935,809 
 HKD 5.64 2,400,000 13,534,560 
 AUD 44.64 79,724 3,538,776 
 BRL 25.88 361,480 9,356,259 

    P=40,510,363 

 

The Group has no foreign currency denominated monetary liabilities as of December 31, 2010 

and 2009. 

 

The exchange rate of the Philippine peso vis-à-vis the US dollar further strengthened to  

P=43.84 as of December 31, 2010 from P=46.20 as of December 31, 2009.  As a result of the 

translation of these foreign currency denominated assets, the Group had foreign exchange losses 

of P=15,956,366 in 2010 and P=9,945,929 in 2009 and foreign exchange gains of 

P=70,445,458 in 2008. 
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the  

US dollar exchange rate based on past US dollar exchange rates and macroeconomic forecast for 

2009, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's 2010 and 2009 income before income 

tax.  The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 

items and adjusts their translation at the period end for the following percentage change in foreign 

currency rates: 

 

 Effect on 

 income before 

US Dollar Income tax 

September, 2011  
 Strengthened by 5% P=16,504,999 
 Weakened by 5% (16,504,999) 
  

December, 2010  

 Strengthened by 5% P=16,505,003 
 Weakened by 5% (16,505,003) 

 

 

  

Effect on income before tax   

Original Currency Percentage Strengthened Weakened 

September, 2011    
 E.M.U euro (EUR) 13% 1,249,916 (1,249,916) 
 Hongkong dollar (HKD) 16% 1,858,585 (1,858,585) 
 Australia Dollar (AUD) 9% 301,367 (301,367) 
 Brazil Real (BRL) 3% 446,016 (446,016) 
       RMB dollar (RMB) 5% 728,998 (728,998) 

 

  

Effect on income before tax   

Original Currency Percentage Strengthened Weakened 

December, 2010    
 E.M.U euro (EUR) 13% 1,770,689 (1,770,689) 
 Hongkong dollar (HKD) 16% 829,635 (829,635) 
 Australia Dollar (AUD) 9% 333,556 (333,556) 
 Brazil Real (BRL) 3% 280,688 (280,688) 

 

 

There is no other impact on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the consolidated 

statements of income. 

 

c. Equity price risk 

 

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as a result of changes in the 

levels of the equity indices and the values of individual stocks. The equity price risk exposure 

arises from the Group’s financial assets at FVPL and investment in AFS equity securities.  For 

investments in Philippine equities, majority of funds are invested in equities listed in the PSE. 

 

The Group measures the sensitivity of its equity securities by using PSE index fluctuations and its 

effect to respective share prices. 
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the equity 

price based on past price performance and macroeconomic forecast for 2009 and 2008, with all 

other variables held constant, of the Group's income before income tax and equity: 

 

Effect on income before income tax: 

 

 September , 2011 December, 2010 

Financial assets at FVPL:   

Change in stock market index (%)   

 +10% P=3,668,391 P=3,172,609 
 –10% (3,668,391) (3,172,609) 
 

Effect on equity: 

 

 September, 2011 December, 2010 

Investment in equity securities(AFS):   

Change in club share prices (%)   

 +10% P=286,950 P=298,000 
 –10% (286,950) (298,000) 

 

 

21. Financial Instruments 

 

Categories of Financial Instruments 

 

As of September 30, 2011: 
 

 

Financial assets 

Nonfinancial 
assets Total 

Loans and 
receivables 

Financial 
assets at  

FVPL 
 HTM 

investments 
AFS 

investments 

ASSETS       
Current:       
 Cash on hand and in banks P=10,130,296 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=10,130,296
 Short-term placements 20,090,065 – – – – 20,090,065
 Listed debt securities – – – – – – 
 Listed equity securities – 53,750,067 – – – 53,750,067 
 Short-term investments 983,967,376 – – – – 983,967,376 
 Receivable from third parties 8,883,184 – – – – 8,883,184 
 Receivable from related 

 parties – 
 

– 
 

– 
 

– 
 

– – 
 Fixed income deposits – – – – – – 
 Prepayments and  

 other current assets – – 
 

– 
 

– 5,665,963 5,665,963 
Noncurrent:       
 Receivable from related 

 parties 3,680,599 – 
 

– 
 

– – 3,680,599 
 Investments in associates – – – – 137,446,329 137,446,329 
 Fixed income deposits 1,000,000 – – – – 1,000,000 
 Listed debt securities – – – 317,936,486 – 317,936,486 
 Listed equity securities – – – 18,791,011 – 18,791,011 
 Property and equipment – – – – 31,332,613 31,332,613 
 Investment properties – – – – 46,319,625 46,319,625 
 Other noncurrent assets – – – – 13,494,294 13,494,294 

TOTAL P=1,027,751,520 P=53,750,067 P=– P=336,727,497 P=234,258,824 P=1,652,487,908 
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As of December 31, 2010: 
 

 

Financial assets 

Nonfinancial 
assets Total 

Loans and 
receivables 

Financial 
assets at  

FVPL 
 HTM 

investments 
AFS 

investments 

ASSETS       
Current:       
 Cash on hand and in banks P=15,849,243 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=15,849,243 
 Short-term placements 16,808,902 – – – – 16,808,902 
 Listed debt securities – – – – – – 
 Listed equity securities – 44,579,898 – – – 44,579,898 
 Short-term investments 6,812,562 – – – – 6,812,562 
 Receivable from third parties 8,001,778 – – – – 8,001,778 
 Receivable from related 

 parties 38,087,652 
 

– 
 

– 
 

– 
 

– 38,087,652 
 Fixed income deposits – – – – – – 
 Prepayments and  

 other current assets – – 
 

– 
 

– 5,424,790 5,424,790 
Noncurrent:       
 Receivable from related 

 parties 2,794,771 – 
 

– 
 

– – 2,794,771 
 Investments in associates – – – – 137,446,329 137,446,329 
 Fixed income deposits 1,000,000 – – – – 1,000,000 
 Listed debt securities – – – 316,807,808 – 316,807,808 
 Listed equity securities – – – 18,791,011 – 18,791,011 
 Property and equipment – – – – 32,336,533 32,336,533 
 Investment properties – – – – 414,394,525 414,394,525 
 Other noncurrent assets – – – – 13,494,294 13,494,294 

TOTAL P=89,354,908 P=44,579,898 P=– P=335,598,819 P=603,096,471 P=1,072,630,096 

 

As of  September 30, 2011: 
 

 

Other 
financial 
liabilities 

Non-financial 
liabilities Total 

LIABILITIES    
Current:    
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses:    
  Deposits payable P=1,155,328 P=– P=1,155,328 
  Accrued expenses 268,390 – 268,390 
  Others 735,509 2,323,987 3,059,496 
 Dividends payable 103,168 – 103,168 
 Deposit liability – – – 
Noncurrent:    
 Retirement benefit obligations – 3,407,403 3,407,403 
 Deferred income tax liabilities – 20,584,494 20,584,494 

TOTAL P=2,262,395 P=26,315,884 P=28,578,279 

 

As of December 31, 2010: 
 

 

Other 
financial 
liabilities 

Non-financial 
liabilities Total 

LIABILITIES    
Current:    
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses:    
  Deposits payable P=1,144,384 P=– P=1,144,384 
  Accrued expenses 360,210 – 360,210 
  Others 1,212,011 215,901 1,427,912 
 Dividends payable 103,523 – 103,523 
 Income tax payable – 874,773 874,773 
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Other 
financial 
liabilities 

Non-financial 
liabilities Total 

Noncurrent:    
 Retirement benefit obligations – 3,407,403 3,407,403 
 Deferred income tax liabilities – 20,584,494 20,584,494 

TOTAL P=2,820,128 P=25,082,571 P=27,902,699 

 

Fair Values 

 The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or 

set between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction, other than in a forced 

or liquidation sale. 

 

Fair values and carrying amount comparison of financial instruments as of  September 30, 2011 and 

December 31, 2010 are as follows: 

 

 September,  2011 December  , 2010 

 

Carrying  
Amount 

Fair 
Values 

Carrying  

Amount 

Fair 

Values 

Financial assets:     

Current:     

Loans and receivables:     

Cash and cash equivalents P=30,220,361 P=30,220,361 P=32,658,145 P=32,658,145 
Short-term investments 983,967,376 983,967,376 6,812,562 6,812,562 
Receivables 8,883,184 8,883,184 46,089,430 46,089,430 
Fixed income deposits – – – – 

Financial assets at FVPL 53,750,067 53,750,067 44,579,898 44,579,898 
HTM investments     
 Debt securities – – – – 
Loans and receivables:     

Receivable from related parties 3,680,599 3,680,599 2,794,771 2,368,450 
Fixed income deposits 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 751,315 

AFS investments:     
 Debt securities 317,936,486 317,936,486 316,807,808 316,807,808 
 Equity securities 18,791,011 18,791,011 18,791,011 18,791,011 
HTM investments:     
 Debt securities – – – – 

Financial liabilities:     
Current:     
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses:     

 Deposits payable 1,155,328 1,155,328 1,144,384 1,144,384 
 Accrued expenses 268,390 268,390 360,210 360,210 
 Others 735,509 735,509 1,212,011 1,212,011 
Dividends payable 103,168 103,168 103,523 103,523 
Deposit liability – –   

 

The Group has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and 

accounts payable and accrued expenses, reasonably approximate their fair values because these are 

short-term in nature or the fair value difference is not material.  Financial assets at FVPL and AFS 

investments are stated at their fair values based on quoted prices.   

 

Short-term investments are fixed-rate time deposits denominated in US dollar with a maturity of over 

three months but within one year from the reporting date and earn annual interest of 2.4% to 4.0% in 

2010 and 2009.  The carrying value of short-term investments approximates its fair value due to its 

short-term nature. 

 

Fixed income deposits represent fixed rate time deposits denominated in US dollar and earn interest 

annually at 3.25% to 10.0% in 2010. For fixed income deposits maturing within one year, the 

carrying amount approximates its fair value due to its short-term nature.  For fixed income 
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deposits maturing beyond one year, fair value is calculated by computing the present value of future 

cash flows using current market rates ranging from 8% to 10% in 2010 and 6.8% to 8.1% in 2010. 

 

The fair value of HTM investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is 

determined by reference to quoted market bid prices, at the close of business on the reporting date or 

last trading day as applicable. 

 

The fair value of receivables from related parties classified as noncurrent in the consolidated balance 

sheets is calculated by computing the present value of future cash flows using current market rates 

ranging from 6.8% to 8.4% in2010 and 2009. 

 

The following table shows financial instruments recognized at fair value, analyzed between those 

whose fair value is based on: 

• Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 

• Those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)  

(Level 2); and 

• Those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 

 

As of  September 30, 2011: 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at FVPL  P=53,750,067 P=– P=– P=53,750,067 
AFS financial assets:     

Private debt securities 317,936,486 – – 317,936,486 
Listed equity securities 18,791,011 – – 18,791,011 

 P=390,477,564 P=– P=– P=390,477,564 

 

As of December 31, 2010: 

 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at FVPL  P=44,579,898 P=– P=– P=44,579,898 
AFS financial assets:     

Private debt securities 316,807,808 – – 316,807,808 
Listed equity securities 18,791,011 – – 18,791,011 

 P=380,178,717 P=– P=– P=380,178,717 

 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 

measurements.  Also, there were no transfers into and out of level 3 fair value measurements. 
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22. Capital Management 
 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit 

rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. 

 

The Group manages its capital structure, which pertains to its equity, and makes adjustment to it, in 

light of changes in economic conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 

adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.  No 

changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for the years ended December 31, 2010, 

2009 and 2008.  The Group is not exposed to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is computed as net debt divided by the sum 

of total capital and net debt.  The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio below 40%.  The Group 

includes, within net debt, accounts payable and accrued expenses and payables to related parties, less 

cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent less 

unrealized losses on changes in fair value of AFS investments. 

 

 September, 2011 December, 2010 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses P=4,483,214 P=2,932,506 
Less cash and cash equivalents 30,220,361 32,658,145 

Net debt (25,737,147) (29,725,639) 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,545,590,946 996,763,247 
Unrealized losses on changes in fair value of AFS 

investments (9,538,779) (9,650,109) 

Total capital 1,536,052,167 987,113,138 
Total capital and net debt P=1,510,315,020 P=957,387,499 

   
Gearing ratio (1.70%) (3.10%)

 

 

23. Note to Statements of Cash Flows 

 

In 2009, noncash activities pertain to the reclassification of deposits under “other noncurrent asset” 

amounting to P=46.3 million to investment properties when the certificate of title was obtained by the 

Group (see Note 11). 

 

In 2010, the non-cash activity of the Group pertains to the reclassification of investment in debt 

securities of about P=127.2 million from HTM investment to AFS investments due to tainting 

provisions under PAS 39 as discussed in Note 8. 
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F & J PRINCE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY 
AGING OF  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2011 
 
 

 
 

Name 

 
Beginning 
Balance 

 
 
Additions 

Deductions Current 
30 days 

 
 

 
60 

days or 
over 

 
 

 
Over 120 

days 

 
Ending 
Balance 

Amount 
Collected 

Amount 
Written-

Off   

 
Magellan Capital Realty 
Development Corp. 

 
 

137,531 

 
 

5,105 

   
 
 

 
 

0 

 
 

142,636 

 
 

142,636 
Magellan Capital 
Corporation 

 
295,800 

 
6,205 

   
 

 
0 

 
302,005 

 
302,005 

Magellan Capital Trading 
Corporation 

 
146,536 

 
5,106 

   
 

 
0 

 
151,642 

 
151,642 

Magellan Utilities 
Development Corp. 

 
21,569 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
21,569 

 
21,569 

Business Process 
Outsourcing   Int’l. 

 
 

 
916,348 

 
910,753 

    
5,595 

 
5,595 

Pinamucan Power  
Corporation 

 
626 

 
500 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
1,126 

 
1,126 

 
 

 
 

602,062 

 
 

933,264 

 
 

910,753 

  
 
 

 
 

0 

 
 

624,573 

 
 

624,573 




